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Financial Highlights

Turnover

Trading Profit

Net Assets Employed

56.8% (£2,701.9m)

34.4% (£1,636.0m)

8.8% (£421.6m)

48.7% (£135.1m)

38.6% (£107.0m)

12.7% (£35.3m)

56.0% (£675.8m)

33.6% (£405.9m)

10.4% (£125.0m)

Building Distribution Europe

Building Distribution USA

Manufacturing Division
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Profit before tax £m

97 264.2

98 279.5

97 4,601.9

98 4,759.5

97 31.07

98 32.70

97 264.4

98 277.4

97 148.23

98 163.90

Turnover £m

Earnings per share pence

Trading profit £m

Net assets per share pence

All figures are shown excluding the exceptional item

All figures are shown excluding the exceptional item

Net pence per share pence

Dividends

Branch Network

97 11.4

98 12.5

97 65.0

98 71.7

97 65.8

98 41.6

97 2.7

98 2.6

97 7.7

98 4.4

Total £m

Net borrowings £m

Borrowings

Dividend cover per share

Gearing %

Building Distribution Europe Building Distribution USA

97 98

Plumb Center 303 318

Builder Center 87 95 

Pipeline Center 52 55

Drainage Center 29 35

Controls Center 27 28 

97 98

HRPC 52 60

Uni-Rents 21 21

Crangrove/RSJ 11 11

Brossette 274 295 

OAG Group 76 81 

Total 932 999

Plumbing 97 98

Ferguson Enterprises 256 287

Familian Corp 102 100

Familian Northwest 79 82

Lumber

Carolina Holdings 96 116

Total 533 585 
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Chairman’s Review

I am pleased to be able to report a record set of

results for the group, reflecting a strong second

half performance.

Group sales were £4,760 million compared to £4,602 million,
representing an increase of 3.4%.

Group trading profit before the exceptional item was £277.4
million after charging £4.3 million of costs relating to the
integration of Familian Corp and Ferguson in the USA and
after including £2.2 million from operations discontinued. This
represents an increase of 4.9% compared with the previous
year’s trading profit of £264.4 million.

Net interest receivable of £2.1 million compares to net
interest payable of £0.2 million in the previous year.

Currency translation reduced group sales by £124.0 million
(2.6%) and trading profit by £6.9 million (2.5%). It benefited
net interest receivable by £0.9 million.

Profit before tax and before the exceptional item increased by
5.8% from £264.2 million to £279.5 million. The exceptional
charge of £5.3 million (after deducting goodwill of £43.1
million previously written off to reserves) relates to the net
loss on the sale of five subsidiaries, four of which were within
the Manufacturing division. Excluding the exceptional item and
its related tax charge, earnings per share were 32.70 pence
compared to 31.07 pence, an increase of 5.2%. After the
exceptional item, earnings per share were marginally lower.

Improved trading conditions over the financial year assisted
our UK distribution businesses. Once again Plumb Center and
Builder Center outperformed their markets as measured by
industry statistics. Our French business, Brossette, produced
another excellent performance in a market which was
generally flat in the first half but which showed more
encouraging signs as the second half progressed. Business
conditions in Austria remained difficult throughout the year. 

Our US distribution businesses had a good second half. Local
currency sales increased by 10.7% compared to the second
half of the previous year. Whilst there was no let up in the
difficult product pricing environment, the stronger sales
growth, coupled with productivity gains, produced an
improved profit performance.

Good progress was also achieved by our Manufacturing
division in the second half despite the continued strength of
sterling and an increasingly harsh business climate for our UK
based companies. In particular, the photographic supplies
companies had a much better second half.

A full explanation of the main features of the group’s results
and financial position for the year ended 31 July 1998 is
contained in the Chief Executive’s and Finance Director’s
reviews on pages 8 to 35.
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Business development
Consideration, including net borrowings, for businesses
acquired during the year amounted to £97.9 million (1997 -
£103.2 million). 

Since the year end, contracts have been signed or completed
for an additional three acquisitions for an aggregate
consideration, including debt of £139.5 million. The most
significant of these acquisitions were Porcher Distribution in
France and Hall & Co in the UK.

Full details of the businesses acquired during the year and
their contribution to group results are shown on pages 32 and
33 respectively.

Expansion of the branch network of our distribution
companies continued during the year. Net new branch
openings continued at a similar rate to the previous year at
64 (1997 - 65). Acquisitions added a further 56 branches
(1997 - 76). There were a total of 1,584 branches at the year
end, after adjusting for the disposal of Plant & Tools in August
1998, compared to 1,477 last year. Including the post year
end acquisitions and disposals, the distribution operations had
1,733 locations as of 20 October 1998.

Dividends
The board is recommending a final dividend of 9.00 pence
(1997 - 8.10 pence) per share, an increase of 11.1%. With the
interim dividend of 3.50 pence already paid, total dividends for
the year will amount to 12.50 pence per share, an increase of
9.6% over dividends declared in respect of last year.

The company’s scrip dividend alternative has been suspended
and in its place a dividend reinvestment plan will be offered.

Arrangements have been made for shareholders, if they wish,
to use the whole of the cash dividend to buy additional
ordinary shares of the company in the market. Details of this
plan, together with an application form and an explanatory
booklet will be sent to shareholders during December.

The board intends to continue with its progressive dividend
policy, notwithstanding current short term economic
uncertainties.

Share purchases
Last year shareholders renewed the company’s authority to
purchase in the market up to 10% of its shares and the board
will be seeking approval to renew this authority again at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

The board is committed to the expansion of the group by
acquisition and organic growth. It continues to believe that it is
in the shareholders’ best interests to maintain a gearing ratio
which allows sufficient flexibility to take advantage of
acquisition opportunities which may arise. Although the board
remains mindful of the need to maintain an efficient capital
structure, the current uncertainty in global markets suggests
that a cautious approach to gearing is likely to be appropriate
and prudent for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, any share
purchases would be relatively modest and will only be
undertaken if they enhance earnings per share and are clearly
for the benefit of shareholders.

“Plumb Center and Builder Center
outperformed their markets as measured
by industry statistics.”
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“The board is committed to expansion 
of the group by acquisition and
organic growth.”

Board changes
Jacques-Régis Descours was appointed to the board on
1 September 1998. Jacques is Chief Executive of Brossette
BTI, based in Lyon. We look forward to Jacques contribution to
our affairs at a time when we would like to increase the
group’s presence in mainland Europe.

Brian Monk retired from the board on 31 July 1998. Brian
joined the group with the Grovewood acquisition in 1986. He
was responsible for Ashley & Rock for many years and was
appointed to the Wolseley board in 1994 as Divisional Chief
Executive of the energy, engineering, electrical and plastics
companies. He led those companies with great determination
through the ensuing difficult years, maximising their
performance and achieving increased co-operation and
synergies throughout his division.

John Watson will be retiring from the board with effect from
30 November 1998 after thirty seven years’ service with the
group. John started his career with Yorkshire Heating Supplies
which later become part of Plumb Center. He was Managing
Director of Wolseley Centers with specific responsibility for
Plumb Center between 1986 and 1992 when he accepted
the challenge of a newly created role as Director of Building
Distribution Mainland Europe to oversee the integration of
Brossette into the Wolseley group. Brossette is one of the
most successful acquisitions the group has ever made and
this is due in no small way to John’s guiding hand. He
subsequently oversaw the integration of ÖAG into the group.

We will miss both Brian and John, and in thanking them for
their contributions to the group, we wish them well in their
retirements.

With John’s impending retirement, we have reorganised
responsibilities at board level for the European Distribution
division to provide even greater focus on our development
plans. Andrew Hutton, Chief Executive of Wolseley Centers
now has responsibility for Wolseley’s building materials’
distribution activities in northern Europe, in addition to his role
as Chief Executive of UK Building Distribution. Jacques
Descours is responsible for Wolseley’s southern Europe
building materials’ distribution activities in addition to his role
as Chief Executive of Brossette.

Additionally, the nominations committee is actively looking for
another non-executive director to join the board. 

Employees
This year has proved to be a particularly demanding one for
our employees, who responded magnificently to the challenge
of improving the group’s second half performance. I am
sincerely grateful for their tremendous dedication in helping to
produce another set of record results.

Chairman’s Review
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Outlook
Generally, the majority of our distribution businesses are
seeing growth on last year up to the end of September.
However, there is no doubt that additional uncertainty has
been created by recent international events and the
turbulence affecting financial markets around the world.
Interest rate cuts are usually helpful to our principal
businesses, although if they are driven by economic weakness
and deflation, they may be indicative of difficult times ahead. 

In the UK, the momentum enjoyed by our distribution
businesses in the second half has carried through into the
current year, although at a slower pace. It is too early to
determine the effect of slowing economic activity and the
weaker outlook for the housing market. Builder Center will
benefit from increased market presence and critical mass
following the Hall & Co acquisition, although one off
integration costs amounting to approximately £5 million are
likely to be incurred in the first half of 1998/99.

The continued improvement in trading conditions in France
should assist Brossette to make further progress whereas in
Austria the outlook remains flat. Brossette will also incur one-
off costs amounting to approximately £3 million in the first
half of 1998/99 in relation to the Porcher Distribution
acquisition which is scheduled for completion in
early November.

Current market conditions for our US distribution businesses
reflect strong underlying demand, but the difficult product
pricing environment continues. We are expecting each of our
US businesses to have a good first half providing the market
holds up and there is no further significant price deflation.
Recent international events suggest there may be a slowing of
economic activity in the USA in the second half. Additional
benefits are likely to arise from the recent integration of
Familian Corp and Ferguson.

In the Manufacturing division our photographic supplies
companies should continue their improved performance.
Elsewhere in the division the current trading environment is
unhelpful to the majority of our companies. We would expect
the recent formation of the new divisional board to increase
the focus on the strategic development of these businesses.

Each of our building distribution companies enjoys a strong
market position. We will continue to invest in branch
openings, acquisitions and capital expenditure to secure
profitable and sustainable growth over the medium
term. In particular, we believe that there are further
opportunities available to the group to gain increased
leverage from the scale of our operations in Europe
and the USA.

RICHARD IRELAND

Chairman

“Tremendous efforts have been made by our
25,000 staff to achieve both record earnings and
to ensure continued growth.”
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Overview

The plans put in place to improve performance in

a deflationary environment paid off to give a

strong second half performance all round.

Each of the group’s three divisions achieved a higher rate of
sales and profit growth in the second half compared to the
first half. In European distribution, Plumb Center, Builder
Center and Brossette all produced excellent results, each
outperforming their markets. In the USA, the pressure on the
net margin continued from the more difficult product pricing
environment and increased labour costs. However, the
underlying market remained strong throughout the 
year with sales volumes holding up well. Ferguson
produced another outstanding performance. The 
early signs of the effects of the integration of Familian Corp
and Ferguson are encouraging.

I have every confidence that the Ferguson management
will add value to Familian Corp’s business to
produce the required improvement in the profitability
of our California based operations. Carolina
Holdings did well to achieve record profits despite
the adverse effects of significant lumber price

deflation. It continued throughout the year to
expand its geographic coverage, through its
bolt on acquisitions and its product range.

Against the background of difficult economic
and industry conditions and the adverse
impact of the strength of sterling, our
Manufacturing division made good progress,
particularly in the second half. After excluding
the effects of discontinued activities, the

division produced a 24% improvement in second half trading
profits compared to the equivalent period last year.

Business development
Expansion of the branch network of our distribution
companies continued. Net new branch openings continued at
a similar rate to the previous year at 64 (1997 - 65).
Acquisitions added a further 56 branches (1997 - 76). There
were a total of 1,584 branches at the year end compared to
1,477 last year. Including the post year end acquisitions to
date, the distribution operations have 1,733 locations.

A total of 22 acquisitions were completed during the year for
an aggregate consideration, including debt, of £97.9 million
(1997 - £103.2 million). In a full year, these acquisitions should
contribute around £220 million to group turnover.

In the UK, Wolseley Centers opened a net 28 (1997 - 35)
new locations and added a further 13 through acquisition,
nine of which were Builder Center acquisitions. High Cool,
an air conditioning equipment distributor, was acquired in
February of this year. Its products have provided a useful
extension to the Wolseley Centers’ product range. Wolseley
Centers ended the year with a total of 623 locations, an
effective increase of 41 (6.9%) during the year.

Brossette stepped up its branch development programme,
adding a further net 21 locations (1997 - 19), including four
from acquisition. The number of Brossette outlets increased
to 295.

JOHN YOUNG

Chief Executive

Chief Executive’s Review
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ÖAG opened a net five additional locations, three of which
were in Austria and two in the Czech Republic. ÖAG had 81
locations as at 31 July 1998.

In the USA, the total number of branches increased by 52
(9.8%) to 585. Acquisitions accounted for 39 of this increase,
of which 19 were in Ferguson Enterprises, 17 in Carolina
Holdings and three in Familian Northwest. All but one of the
13 new branch openings in the USA were Ferguson locations.
The Ferguson acquisitions helped increase its industrial
business, its product range and widen its geographic coverage.

The most significant acquisition by Carolina Holdings was
that of Stock Lumber in May for an aggregate consideration
of approximately $100 million. This will add additional sales in
a full year of some $175 million. Stock Lumber distributes
building materials and manufactures and distributes roof
trusses from 12 facilities serving the state of Wisconsin and
the metropolitan areas of Minnesota. Wisconsin is a new
market for Carolina Holdings. The Minnesota acquisitions
provide an excellent fit with Carolina Holdings’ existing
activities in that state and in Detroit.

The principal acquisition in the Manufacturing division was that
of Norman J Hurll and its subsidiaries by Nu-Way, the oil and
gas burner manufacturer, in October of last year. The Norman
J Hurll group is involved in the assembly and distribution of
blowers and pumps, in Australia, Singapore and New Zealand
and has been distributing Nu-Way burners in Australia and
New Zealand for many years.

Since the year end a further three acquisitions have been
signed or completed for an aggregate consideration, including
debt, of £139.5 million. The most significant of these
acquisitions were Porcher Distribution in France and
Hall & Co in the UK.

On 30 September 1998, Brossette signed a conditional
agreement to acquire Porcher Distribution for an estimated
consideration of approximately £14.8 million, including debt
acquired. It is expected that the contractual conditions will be
satisfied to enable completion to take place in early
November. This acquisition would add a further 56
outlets to the Brossette network and would significantly
strengthen Brossette’s presence in Paris and certain other
regions of France.

On 2 October 1998, following approval from the European
competition authorities, the acquisition of Hall & Co, the UK
builders’ merchant business, was completed for an estimated
consideration of £121 million. The combination of Hall & Co
with our existing Builder Center builders’ merchant business
means that we now have a truly nationwide heavyside branch
network, trading from 208 locations, with a significant
market presence.

A summary of the acquisitions made during the year and
since the year end is shown in the Finance Director’s Review
on pages 32 and 33.

“…stay ahead of the competition and 
pave the way for continued growth…”



Building Distribution Europe
PRINCIPAL OPERATING COMPANIES

UK: Wolseley Centers: Lightside Division (trading
as Plumb Center, Drainage Center, Just Bathrooms,
Crangrove), Heavyside Division (trading as Builder Center,
RSJ, Uni-Rents), Commercial & Industrial Division (trading
as Pipeline Center, Controls Center, High Cool) Spares
Division (trading as HRPC, Wash-Vac Services)

FRANCE: Brossette

AUSTRIA: ÖAG Group

Ipswich Plumb Center/Just Bathrooms branch. Part of Plumb Center’s rolling
programme of local branch refurbishments and new branch openings.
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Chief Executive’s Review

The reported sales for the division

increased by 1.8% and trading profits

by 9.4% due to excellent perform-

ances in the UK and France. In

constant currency terms the sales and

trading profit increase was 6.6% and

13.6% respectively. The overall trading

profit margin for the division improved

from 6.1% to 6.5% of sales.

Excluding Plant & Tools, UK

distribution sales increased by 9.7%

from £865.0 million to £948.9 million.

The equivalent trading profit increased

by 14.2% from £59.9 million to £68.4

million and the trading profit margin

increased from 6.9% to 7.2% of sales.

During the year Wolseley Centers

revised its organisational structure to

reflect the way in which its business is

being managed and developed. It is

now organised into four divisions:

lightside; heavyside; commercial/

industrial and spares. This new

structure is designed to increase the

focus and create a platform for 

further growth.

Both Plumb Center and Builder

Center benefited from the upward

momentum in the UK housing market

over the financial year and, in

particular, from increased spending

on repairs, maintenance and improve-

ment, both gaining market share.

The division produced 34.4% (1997 34.9%) 

of the group’s turnover and 38.6% (1997 37.0%)

of the group’s trading profit (before the

exceptional item.)

Turnover 97 98

£m 1,607.2 1,636.0

Trading profit

£m 97.8 107.0

Net assets employed

£m 381.6 405.9

Trading margin

% 6.1 6.5

Number of employees

8,481 8,751

Building Distribution Europe
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Chief Executive’s Review

Plumb Center produced another

excellent performance, improving its

operating profit margin to produce a

double digit increase in profits. Builder

Center made significant progress

during the year with an improvement

in sales of over 11% and in trading

profits of 48%. The improved

performance reflects the gains in

market share which Builder Center

has achieved from successful

marketing initiatives and by focusing on

small to medium size builders and

local contractors.

An improvement in profitability in

Brown and Tawse, acquired by

Pipeline Center in the previous year,

helped Pipeline to report an increase

in trading profit of 29%. This was

despite a tough marketplace which

was adversely affected by the Far East

crisis resulting in the cancellation or

postponement of major inward

investment projects.

HRPC, which was successfully

integrated into the Wolseley Centers’

infrastructure during the year, produced

another year of solid growth. 

1 The acquisition of High Cool provides an entry for Control Centers into the
growing air conditioning market.

2 The number of Express outlets continue to grow throughout the group’s
European Distribution network.

3 Brossette can also meet the demand for non-standard specialist products.

4 Brossette’s branch in Valence.

5 Stainless Steel products were introduced by Pipeline Center with
help from Brossette.

6 One of many trade showrooms.

Building Distribution Europe

4

5 6

21 3
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Chief Executive’s Review

WashVac, the white goods’ spares

business acquired by HRPC in the

latter part of the previous financial year,

produced just over half of the

incremental profit contribution from

acquisitions to the European

Distribution division as a whole.

Plant and Tools was sold on 14

August 1998. A provision against the

net loss on disposal, including goodwill

previously written off, is included in the

exceptional item.

Brossette produced, once again, an

excellent set of results with local

currency sales and trading profits up by

4.8% and 15.3% respectively. Organic

sales growth in the second half 

benefited from a gradual improvement

in market conditions and from the

early effects of a new sales incentive

programme which commenced on 

1 April.

The difficult competitive environment

in Austria resulted in ÖAG reporting

local currency sales slightly down but

trading profits improved, reflecting the

disposal of the loss making HHG

business last year. Progress continues

to be made in Hungary and the Czech

Republic, although the Hungarian

business is not yet profitable.

1 Brossette’s central warehouse in Lyon.

2 Wolseley Center’s new Call Center in Ripon.

3 Builder Center continues to expand its branch network.

4 A busy showroom and trade counter, typical of many  
outlets throughout Europe.

5 One of the more picturesque settings for a ÖAG branch.

Building Distribution Europe

3

4 5

21



European Branch Coverage
Building Distribution



Plumb Center 303 318

Builder Center 87 95

Pipeline Center 52 55

Drainage Center 29 35

Controls Center 27 28

Branches 97 98

HRPC 52 60

Uni-Rents 21 21

Crangrove/RSJ 11 11

Brossette 274 295 OAG Group 76 81

Branches 97 98



Building Distribution USA
PRINCIPAL OPERATING COMPANIES

Ferguson Enterprises, Carolina Holdings, Familian Northwest,
Familian Corp

Ferguson Enterprises’ new 225,000 square foot
warehouse in Elkin, North Carolina
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Chief Executive’s Review

The organic sales growth and trading

profit growth for the year were

adversely affected by deflation in both

lumber prices and in products,

particularly commodity items, in the

plumbing, heating and industrial

distribution businesses. The upward

pressure on labour costs due to record

levels of employment in the USA was

a further unhelpful factor. Underlying

volume increases in sales remained

positive in all companies. Each of them

responded well to the more difficult

product pricing and labour cost

environment to achieve an improved

second half performance.

Ferguson Enterprises produced

another year of record sales and

profits. It had a strong second half with

an increase in the rate of sales growth

from 6.6% in the first half to 14.2% in

the second half. 

Despite experiencing some sales price

deflation, the increase in US dollar

sales for the year exceeded 10% for

the seventh consecutive year. The

increase in trading profit also

approached this level. Investments in

IT and distribution centres are already

proving beneficial in enhancing branch

operations, purchasing benefits,

working capital ratios and customer

service. They helped Ferguson to

achieve an increase in its added 

value percentage.

The division produced 56.8% (1997 54.3%) of

the group’s turnover and 48.7% (1997 50.3%)

of the group’s trading profit (before the

exceptional item), after charging the one-off costs

of £4.3 million relating to the integration of

Familian Corp and Ferguson.

Turnover 97 98

£m 2,499.9 2,701.9

Trading profit

£m 133.0 135.1

Net assets employed

£m 607.0 675.8

Trading margin

% 5.3 5.0

Number of employees

11,675 12,711

Building Distribution USA
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Chief Executive’s Review

The integration of Familian Corp with

Ferguson was announced on 18 June

1998. These businesses together

represented approximately 32% of the

Wolseley group turnover and 56% of

the US distribution turnover in the year.

The principal objectives of the

integration are to improve the

profitability of Familian Corp and to

provide a platform for more rapid

growth throughout Familian Corp’s

operations. The early indications of the

results of this integration are positive

with encouraging trends in sales and

profits for the Familian Corp branches

in the first two months of the new

financial year. The buoyant housing

market in California presents a helpful

background against which to secure

additional growth. 

One-off integration costs of £4.3

million were charged in the year to 

31 July 1998, relating to headcount

reductions (£1.0 million) and the costs

(£3.3 million) of migrating from

Familian Corp’s systems, including the

write down of hardware and software

(£1.3 million). Familian Corp ended

the year with a 7.1% increase in sales.

However the trading profit, before one-

off integration costs, was adversely

affected by duplicate costs associated

with the move to the new super hub

in Pomona and ended lower than the

previous year.

1 Stock Lumber joined the group in May 1998.

2 Access to up-to-the-minute stock availability is important to customers.

3 Carolina Holdings companies add value by manufacturing roof trusses and
other timber based products.

4 Familian Northwest supplied specially grooved plastic pipe which facilitated
reasonable water flow and increased the oxygen supply to assist fish migration
around the Bonneville Dam, Washington State.

5 State of the art technology adds extra efficiency at Ferguson’s warehouse in
Elkin, North Carolina.

Building Distribution USA

3

4 5

21
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Chief Executive’s Review

Sales growth in Familian Northwest

was approximately 9%, assisted by

current and prior year acquisitions.

Although profitability improved in the

second half, for the year as a whole,

trading profit was little changed from

the previous year and the trading

margin reduced. This reduction in

trading margin was due to the

combined effects of price deflation on

products imported from the Far East

and upward pressure on wages arising

from the competition for non and

semi-skilled labour in the northwest

where a number of large organisations

have relocated.

Carolina Holdings achieved record

sales and trading profit for the second

consecutive year. It increased its local

currency sales by 9.9% from $1.20

billion to $1.32 billion and its trading

profit by 8.6% from $73.3 million to

$79.5 million.

Prices for framing lumber decreased

over the financial year by

approximately 20%. The equivalent

decrease in structural panel prices was

1.4%. The overall effect of this price

deflation was to reduce Carolina

Holdings’ sales by approximately $67.5

million (5.6%). The organic increase in

sales volume was $98.0 million

(8.1%) despite the adverse effects of

deflation. Sales volumes held up well

against the background of high levels

of housing starts throughout the year.

Carolina Holdings continues to

pursue value added products such as

engineered lumber trusses, wall

panels, windows, doors and

speciality millwork.

1 Carolina Holdings branches have also adopted the express concept.

2 A Familian showroom in Los Angeles, California.

3 The new Familian “super-hub” distribution center in Southern California.

4 Familian Northwest constructed and supplied the floating pen in which
“Free Willy” will learn to live in the wild.

5 Industrial plastics is an important and growing part of the
Familian Northwest business.

6 Carolina Holdings produce individually designed doors and window frames.

Building Distribution USA

3

4 65

21



USA Branch Coverage
Building Distribution

ALASKA

HAWAIIAN ISLANDS



PUERTO RICO

Ferguson Enterprises 256 287

Carolina Holdings 96 116

Familian Northwest 79 82

Familian Corp 102 100

Branches 97 98



Manufacturing Division
PRINCIPAL OPERATING COMPANIES

Energy: Bentone, Nu-way, Saint Roch Couvin, Giersch, Electro
Oil International, CTC Warme, CTC FerroFil, Electro Oil, Osby
Parca, CTC

Agricultural: Dihurst, Sparex, Vapormatic, ByPy, Parmiter 

Engineering, Electrical and Plastics: Form Fittings, Godwin,
Gentech, Powerplan, EMD, Totton, Boddington, Antiference,
Boxmag-Rapid, Astralux, Abbot Brown

Photographic: Calumet, Bowens, KJP

Nu-Way dual fuel burners supplied as part of a boiler replacement programme 
at the Sutton Centre, Sutton-in-Ashfield, Nottinghamshire.
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Chief Executive’s Review

A new divisional board has recently

been established which comprises

executives from each of the four major

business segments, being: energy,

agriculture, photographic and

engineering, electrical and plastics. The

new divisional board’s initial task is to

review the strategy for each business

unit, particularly with a view to

identifying opportunities to improve

performance through increased

synergies.

Four businesses were disposed of

during the year. These were Hunterskil

Howard, the IT contracting company;

Ashley & Rock, the electrical

accessories manufacturing company;

Wipac, the automotive components

manufacturer and distributor and COS

Software, the German software

supplier. Comparisons with last year for

the division are distorted by these

disposals.

The adverse impact of foreign currency

translation, erosion of margins due to

the strength of sterling and the effect

of the Far East crisis affected the

trading performance of the division,

but good progress was made by many

of the companies. The rate of sales

and profit growth for the division’s

continuing activities increased in the

second half, assisted by the much

improved performance of the

photographic supplies businesses.

Amongst the energy companies, Saint

Roch Couvin in Belgium, Nu-Way in

the UK and Bentone in Sweden all

showed good increases in trading

profits. Osby Parca in Sweden

returned to profitability. The other

energy companies achieved creditable

results in difficult market conditions. 

The division contributed 8.8% (1997 10.8%) 

of group turnover and 12.7% (1997 12.7%) of

group trading profit (before the exceptional item).

Turnover 97 98

£m 494.8 421.6

Trading profit

£m 33.6 35.3

Net assets employed

£m 132.5 125.0

Trading margin

% 6.8 8.4

Number of employees

4,799 4,371

Manufacturing Division
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Collaboration between the energy

companies on purchasing and research

and development again added to

results. New products continue to be

developed to meet the increasing

demands of environmental legislation.

The engineering and plastics

businesses achieved operating

efficiencies and reported increased

profits on generally similar sales,

assisted by new products and

production investments. The electrical

companies achieved good profit gains

and also increased sales.

The problems in the agricultural market

continued, which together with the

strength of sterling, affected the

agricultural spares and machinery

businesses. Despite this, the

replacement parts business of

Vapormatic improved profits. The

other replacement parts business,

Sparex, reported profits slightly down.

The agricultural manufacturing activities

reported reduced sales.

The photographic supplies activities of

Calumet in the USA and KJP in the

UK, Germany and Holland, returned

improved profits in the second half of

the year as earlier investments to

support digital products and the

California retail stores began to

contribute. The market continues to be

affected by the rapid advances in

digital imaging technology. Both

Calumet and KJP have set up

specialist digital sales units and the

early response to this initiative is

encouraging. The integration of

Crimson Tech with Calumet was

completed successfully with

performance in line with expectations.

The equipment manufacturers

Bowens found sales constrained by

market conditions.

1 In addition to mail order and telephone sales, Calumet have a growing
number of specialist outlets throughout the USA.

2 Computer aided design is a common feature at Totton Pumps and throughout our
manufacturing companies.

3 Sparex supplies UK customers and its many overseas subsidiaries from its
warehouse in Exeter.

4 Vapormatic place great importance on their quality control.

5 Saint Roch Couvin supply an attractive range of boilers from their factory in Belgium.

6 Twenty six Godwin pumps are used to bypass waste water mains in Boston, Massachusetts.

Manufacturing Division

3

5 6

2

4

1



Our management and employees

throughout the group are determined

to work together to develop their

businesses for the benefit of

shareholders. I remain convinced that

the strength of our operations across

Europe and the USA will continue to

show through, however difficult market

conditions become.

In particular, the continued investments

in our branch network and in IT and

logistics should enable us to leverage

the benefits from the critical mass of

our operations. Generally the majority

of our distribution businesses are

seeing growth on last year up to the

end of September. Whilst there is no

doubt that additional uncertainty has

been created by international events,

we face the future with an appropriate

degree of optimism about the growth

opportunities available to the group.

The group is well placed to meet the 

challenges ahead. 

Chief Executive’s Review

Future Direction
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“…we face the future with an appropriate
degree of optimism…”

JOHN YOUNG

Chief Executive
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Group results
Group turnover of £4,759.5 million was an increase of 3.4%
over the previous year. Currency translation reduced turnover
by £124.0 million (2.6%). Of the increase in turnover of
£281.6 million, excluding currency translation, organic growth
from continuing operations accounted for £167.7 million
(3.9%) and acquisitions in the current and prior year for a
further £203.8 million. The turnover of the operations
discontinued was £47.3 million. This represents the aggregate
sales of Hunterskil Howard, Ashley & Rock, Wipac, COS
Software and Plant & Tools.

Group trading profit, before the one-off integration costs,
increased by £17.3 million (6.5%) from £264.4 million to
£281.7 million. The one-off costs of £4.3 million relate to the
integration of Familian Corp with Ferguson in the USA. The
incremental effect on trading profit of acquisitions in the
current and prior year was £11.4 million. The operations
discontinued referred to above contributed £2.2 million of the
year’s trading profit. 

Group profit before tax of £279.5 million, before the
exceptional charge, was an increase of 5.8% from last year’s
£264.2 million. The exceptional charge of £5.3 million
represents the net loss on disposal of the five subsidiary
companies referred to above. This net loss is arrived at after
charging goodwill, previously written off to reserves, amounting
to £43.1 million. It also includes a provision of £6.3 million
relating to the net loss on the disposal of Plant & Tools. This
disposal was completed shortly after the year end.

There was an exceptional tax charge of £5.6 million on the
exceptional loss on disposals of £5.3 million. This tax charge
relates principally to the gain on the disposal of
Hunterskil Howard. 

Currency translation reduced profit before tax by
£6.9 million (2.5%). 

Second half performance
All divisions produced a strong performance in the second half
of the financial year.

The second half sales’ performance can be summarised as
follows:

Second half sales 1997/98 growth
1998 1997 2nd half 1st half

£m £m

Building Distribution

- Europe 814.4 779.3 +4.5% -0.4%

- USA 1,420.1 1,298.9 +9.3% +6.7%

Manufacturing 184.8 173.3 +6.6% +1.2%

2,419.3 2,251.5 +7.5% +3.6%

Operations discontinued 9.3 65.9

Group sales 2,428.6 2,317.4

In each division the sales growth in the second half exceeded
the rate of growth in the first half.

The corresponding trading profit performance, before the one
off integration costs in the USA, was as follows:

Second half trading profit 1997/98 growth
1998 1997 2nd half 1st half

£m £m
Building Distribution

- Europe 55.4 49.9 +11.0% +6.0%

- USA (pre-integration costs) 82.2 76.4 +7.6% +1.1%

Manufacturing 17.3 13.9 +24.5% -13.4%

154.9 140.2 +10.5% +0.8%

Operations discontinued 1.7 (0.5)

Group trading profit 

(before integration costs) 156.6 139.7
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Building Distribution Europe

Building Distribution USA

Manufacturing Division

Finance Director’s Review

The profit growth in each division in the second half was
significantly higher than that in the first half. The Manufacturing
division trading profit was assisted by a much improved
performance from the photographic supplies businesses.

Earnings per share
Before the exceptional item and its related tax charge, the
increase in earnings per share was 5.2% from 31.07 pence to
32.70 pence. Total earnings per share were virtually
unchanged at 30.80 pence compared to 31.07 pence. The
average number of shares in issue during the year was 571.3
million (1997 568.5 million).

Interest
Net interest receivable was £2.1 million (1997 charge of £0.2
million). The interest credit was increased by £0.9 million due
to currency translation. There were benefits to the interest
charge from the receipt of interest on sterling deposits at a
higher rate than was paid on related foreign currency
borrowings. Net interest receivable on construction loans
amounted to £5.0 million (1997 £4.1 million).

Taxation
The overall effective tax rate (excluding exceptional items) for
the group is 33% and is expected to remain so for the next
financial year, providing the geographical contributions to
group profits remain broadly the same and there are no
significant changes to tax rates in individual territories.

Dividends
The cost of dividends paid and proposed in respect of the
financial year is £71.7 million (£65.0 million). The dividend
cover is 2.5 times (1997 2.7 times). Based on pre-exceptional
earnings, the cover would be 2.6 times.

Segmental analysis
Segmental information is provided in note 1 to the accounts
on page 50.

Acquisitions
A total of 22 acquisitions were completed during the year for
a combined consideration of £97.9 million (1997 £103.2
million), including net debt acquired. All of this amount was
funded from existing resources.

The following table summarises the acquisitions made during
the financial year. In certain cases the consideration is subject
to adjustment:

Effective date Business Consideration
of acquisition £m

25 Aug 1997 Kroonenberg Lumber Co 2.8

25 Aug 1997 Cities Supply Co Inc 2.1

20 Oct 1997 Norman J Hurll 3.7

30 Oct 1997 Queen Pump 1.5

3 Nov 1997 Southbend Supply 4.1

7 Jan 1998 Steel City 2.2

27 Feb 1998 High Cool 3.6

30 Mar 1998 Tozour Energy - Product Division 2.8

31 May 1998 Stock Lumber 59.9

1 Jun 1998 Forward Enterprises 4.0

29 Jun 1998 Esco Supply 3.7

23 Jul 1998 JF Lord 4.8

Other 2.7

97.9
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An analysis, by division, of the consideration and expected
contribution to group turnover in a full year is as follows:

Full year contribution 
Consideration to turnover

Division £m £m

Building Distribution - Europe 9.7 23.8

Building Distribution - USA 83.8 188.5

Manufacturing 4.4 7.6

97.9 219.9

Since 31 July 1998 the following acquisitions have been
signed or completed:

Effective date Business Consideration
of acquisition £m

31 Aug 1998 Delaware Lumber 3.7

30 Sep 1998 Porcher Distribution 14.8

2 Oct 1998 Hall & Co 121.0

139.5

The date shown for the acquisition of Porcher Distribution is
the date on which a conditional agreement was signed.
Completion is expected in early November 1998.

In certain of the above acquisitions, the consideration is
subject to adjustment.

Financial position
Shareholders’ funds increased by £94.1 million from £842.3
million to £936.4 million. The net increase comprised the
following elements:

£m

Retained profits 104.3

New share capital subscribed (share options) 4.9

Scrip Dividends 6.0

Goodwill on acquisitions (56.7)

Goodwill on disposals 35.9

Exchange translation (0.3)

Increase in shareholders’ funds 94.1

The prudent approach taken in determining the amounts at
which assets and liabilities are included in the group balance
sheet and the extent to which income is reflected in the profit
and loss account is fully in line with the long established
Rock Solid concept which is rigorously applied throughout
the group.

Net borrowings, excluding construction loan borrowings,
reduced by £24.2 million to £41.6 million (1997 £65.8
million) giving year-end gearing of 4.4% (1997 7.7%).
Currency translation increased borrowings by £4.4 million. The
post year-end acquisitions amounting to £139.5 million, which
have been either signed or completed to date, would increase
the gearing by around 15% to approximately 19%.
Construction loan borrowings relating to our US lumber
distribution activities amounted to £147.3 million (1997
£132.2 million) and are more than offset by secured
construction loans receivable of £148.1 million (1997 £133.3
million).

The construction loan programme has been expanded during
the year and continues to generate a worthwhile contribution
to earnings.

Finance Director’s Review

“A total of 22 acquisitions were completed for a
consideration of £97.9 million”



Cash flow
The cash flow statement in the format required by Financial
Reporting Standard 1 (Revised) is set out on page 47.
A summary of the change in net debt is set out below:

1998 1997
£m £m

Profit before interest 272.1 264.4

Depreciation 54.4 50.8

Loss on disposal of businesses 5.3 2.9

Increase in working capital (18.5) (72.1)

Net cash flow from operating activities 313.3 246.0

Acquisitions (113.3) (91.5)

Disposals 56.9 0.3

Shares issued (net of expenses) - share options 4.9 5.5

Tangible fixed assets (net of sales) (72.7) (64.0)

New loans and finance leases (5.9) (4.9)

Interest (paid)/received (1.6) 1.1

Tax paid (92.7) (74.2)

Dividends paid (60.3) (58.7)

Exchange difference (4.4) 34.4

Decrease/(increase) in net debt 24.2 (6.0)

Net cash flow from operating activities increased by 27.4%
from £246.0 million to £313.3 million. Working capital
increased by only £18.5 million (1997 £72.1 million).
Inventory levels in the USA decreased by £2.7 million
excluding acquisitions, partly due to a strong sales
performance by our US companies in the latter part of the
financial year. Ferguson’s recent investment in distribution
centres and IT has begun to have a favourable impact on its
working capital performance, in addition to the beneficial
impact on its added value percentage. These investments,
together with investments in IT at Carolina Holdings were
reflected in the increase in capital expenditure from £64.0
million to £72.7 million, an increase of 13.6%.

Exchange rates and currency exposures
Details of average exchange rates used in the translation of
overseas earnings, and of year end exchange rates used in the
translation of overseas balance sheets, for the principal
currencies used by the group are shown in note 30 to the
accounts. The net effect of currency translation was to reduce
turnover by £124.0 million (2.6%) and to reduce trading
profit by £6.9 million (2.5%). The net interest receivable was
increased by £0.9 million from currency translation. These
currency effects reflect a strengthening of the average sterling
exchange rate against each of the major currencies with which
the group is involved as follows:

Strengthening of sterling % 

US dollar 1.4

French franc 11.4

Austrian schilling 12.2

The group has well defined and consistently applied policies
for the management of foreign exchange exposures. The role
of the treasury committee in this respect is summarised on
page 37. Group policy prohibits speculative currency dealing.
Transactions which create significant foreign currency cash
flows are hedged with either forward contracts or currency
options. The group has considerable overseas operations but
does not hedge profit translation exposure since such hedges
only have temporary effect. Most of the foreign currency
earnings generated by our overseas operations are reinvested
in the business to fund growth in those territories. Net assets
denominated in foreign currencies are hedged by foreign
currency borrowings or foreign currency swaps. The hedging
position at the year end is set out in note 30 to the accounts.
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“Cash flow from operating activities increased by
27.4%…to £313.3 million”



Interest rate swaps are arranged from time to time in order to
secure interest rates or interest rate differentials. Details of
such swaps in existence at the balance sheet date are given in
note 31 to the accounts. Only counterparties of the highest
repute are used. The interest rate and currency profiles of
derivatives and other financial instruments are shown in note
31 to the accounts.

Shareholders’ return
Return on gross capital employed (as defined on page 72) is
17.6% (1997 17.7%). We continue to monitor return on
capital including goodwill, as one of the key measures of
business performance.

At the close of business on the date of the Directors’ Report,
the value of an ordinary share as quoted in the Financial
Times was 365 pence per share (1997 515 pence). The
market capitalisation of the group at that date was £2,091
million (1997 £2,935 million). The total dividend of 12.50
pence per share in respect of the 1998 financial year gives a
yield of 4.3%, gross of advance corporation tax, based on the
above market value of the shares.

Accounting standards
The group’s accounting policies fully reflect the requirements
of the Accounting Standards Board (ASB). There is no impact
on the annual report and accounts this year from new
Financial Reporting Standards. 

The group will be adopting FRS10 (goodwill and intangible
assets) with effect from 1 August 1998. Goodwill arising on
acquisitions from that date will be capitalised in the balance
sheet and amortised over 20 years unless a shorter period is
appropriate. Goodwill on acquisitions prior to that date will not
be capitalised and amortised.

Millennium and European Monetary Union
All group companies are aware of the implications of the
Millennium issue and European Monetary Union both for their
information systems and other aspects of their operations.
Local management is responsible for ensuring that any
necessary systems modifications and other initiatives are
planned and completed within the time available. The overall
progress of group companies in meeting their objectives in
these areas is monitored by the audit committee. In the
context of ongoing systems development, it is not anticipated
that significant incremental expenditure will be incurred to
ensure compliance with the necessary requirements.

Insurance
The insurance arrangements of the group are reviewed
annually by the audit committee.

The group has a captive insurance company which is
registered and operational in the Isle of Man. No
policies are written for third parties. The administration
is undertaken by a specialist management company.
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Board of Directors

1

Richard Ireland (Aged 64)

Chairman (Non Executive)

First appointed to the board on
12 December 1975. Formerly
Group Finance Director. Mr Ireland
became a non-executive director in
May 1995 and Group Chairman on
1 August 1996. He is a member of
the company’s Audit Committee
and is Chairman of the Treasury
and Nominations Committees.
Mr Ireland is a non-executive
director of Schroder UK Growth
Fund plc and Gartmore Shared
Equity Trust plc. Formerly Chairman
of Severn Trent plc and immediate
past President, Birmingham
Chamber of Commerce.

2

John Young (Aged 53)

Group Chief Executive

First appointed to the board on
22 June 1982. Mr Young was
Managing Director of P J Parmiter
& Sons Limited when that
company joined the group in
1978. Appointed Deputy Group
Chief Executive in 1994 and
Group Chief Executive with effect
from 1 August 1996.

3

Charles A Banks (USA) (Aged 57) 

Chief Executive, Ferguson
Enterprises Inc

First appointed to the board on
1 August 1992. Assumed
additional responsibilities for the
business of Familian Corp with
effect from 18 June 1998.

4

Jacques-Régis Descours
(France) (Aged 50)

Chief Executive, Brossette BTI

First appointed to the board on
1 September 1998 with
responsibility for Brossette BTI and
building distribution activities in
southern Europe. Mr Descours first
joined Brossette in 1984 and was
appointed its Finance Director on
1 January 1992. He was
appointed Deputy Managing
Director in November 1994 and
Managing Director on 1 February
1997.

5

Ian E Humphries (Aged 55)

Chief Executive, Manufacturing
division

First appointed to the board on
1 August 1995 as Chief Executive,
Agricultural, Photographic and
Technical Services. Assumed
responsibility for the whole of the
Manufacturing division with effect
from 1 August 1998.

6

Andrew J Hutton (Aged 51)

Chief Executive, Building
Distribution UK

First appointed to the board on
1 August 1994. Assumed
additional responsibility for
building distribution activities in
northern Europe with effect from
1 September 1998.

7

James B Thomas (USA) (Aged 62)

Director of US Investments

First appointed to the board on
1 February 1996. Formerly Senior
Vice President, Ferguson
Enterprises Inc.

8

John C Watson (Aged 60)

Director, Building Distribution
Mainland Europe

First appointed to the board on
1 August 1992. Due to retire from
the board on 30 November 1998.

9

Stephen P Webster (Aged 45)

Group Finance Director

Chartered Accountant. First
appointed to the board on
1 August 1994. Formerly partner
in Price Waterhouse.

10

David L Tucker (Aged 58)

Non-executive Director

Chartered Accountant. First
appointed to the board on
24 January 1990. Member of
the company’s Nominations,
Remuneration and Treasury
Committees and Chairman of the
Audit Committee. Other
appointments include Chairman
Edinburgh UK Tracker Trust PLC,
Non-executive Director Britannia
Smaller Companies Trust PLC,
Greycoat PLC and Rexam PLC.

11

John W Whybrow (Aged 51)

Non-executive Director

First appointed to the board on
1 August 1997. Member of the
company’s Nominations, Audit
and Treasury Committees and
Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. Mr Whybrow is
President and Chief Executive
Officer of Philips Lighting Holding
B.V., based in The Netherlands,
and a member of the Board of
Management of Royal Philips
Electronics N.V.

David A Branson
Secretary

1 2 5 63 4

9 117 8 10



The company has fully complied throughout the year with the
Cadbury Committee's Code of Best Practice and section A of the
Best Practice Provisions annexed to the London Stock Exchange
Listing Rules. A report by the company's auditors on the
company's compliance with the Code of Best Practice appears on
page 67.

The London Stock Exchange has published a Combined Code of
corporate governance based on the report of the Committee on
Corporate Governance chaired by Sir Ronald Hampel. Reporting
requirements under the Combined Code are in respect of
accounting years ending on or after 31 December 1998 and
consequently do not strictly apply to the company for the year
under review. However, your directors believe that the company
already complies with the Combined Code's broad Principles of
Good Governance, except that existing re-election provisions in
the company's articles of association require no greater than one-
third of the directors to offer themselves for re-election each year
at the annual general meeting. At the conclusion of the
company's annual general meeting, all of the company's directors
will have offered themselves for re-election within the previous
three years.

The board

The constitution of the board is kept under review and changes
made when appropriate and in the best interests of the company.
The board meets regularly during the year and has a formal
schedule of matters reserved for its attention.

Audit committee

The non-executive directors, who comprise a strong and
independent element of the board, constitute the audit committee
which meets at least twice each year, with the auditors and
Finance Director in attendance. The committee is responsible for
agreeing external audit plans, and for reviewing and reporting to
the board on the interim and annual financial statements and on
matters relating to accounting policy and the control of financial
and business risks within the group. The board believes that it is
important for the auditors to have full access to each director of
the company. Accordingly, the auditors attend the October board
meeting each year to present their comprehensive report, which
summarises the major accounting, reporting and control issues
arising from their audit work, and to answer any questions from
directors.

Treasury committee

The committee comprises the non-executive directors, the Chief
Executive, the Finance Director and the Company Secretary. It is
responsible for determining treasury policy and for the review and
approval of all major treasury transactions before they are
undertaken.

Remuneration committee

The committee consists of the non-executive directors, excluding
the non-executive Chairman. Its role is to determine remuneration
and other benefits of the executive directors and the Chairman of
the company and to approve any arrangements and grant of
options under the Wolseley Executive Share Option Schemes. The
board's remuneration report is set out on pages 38 to 41.

Appointments and salaries committee

The committee consists of any two directors of the company, one
of whom must be either the Chairman or Chief Executive of the
company. Its role includes the review and recommendation to the
board of the fees and other terms of engagement of the non-
executive directors, except for the Chairman of the company.

Nominations committee

The committee consists of the Chairman of the company and the
non-executive directors. It is responsible for considering and
recommending to the full board candidates for appointment or
removal as directors.

Internal financial control

In a highly decentralised group, where local management have
considerable autonomy to run and develop their businesses, a
well designed system of internal financial reporting and
control is necessary.

The board has overall responsibility for the system of internal
financial control within the group and has reviewed the
effectiveness thereof. The system is designed to provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance that the assets of the
group are safeguarded, that proper accounting records are
maintained and that reliable financial information is produced.

The accounting policies and controls are incorporated in the group
accounting and business procedures manual which sets out the
group's long established ``Rock Solid'' approach to accounting and
financial control. The group adopts conservative accounting policies
which are applied uniformly and rigorously across the group. All
subsidiary companies are required to adhere to specified internal
control procedures.

In addition to the core financial disciplines laid down in the group
manual, further internal financial control is exercised by monthly
monitoring of financial performance by comparison to budgets,
forecasts and cash targets, both by local subsidiary management
and by the directors of the company. Regular visits by the Chief
Executive, the divisional directors and the Finance Director to the
group's subsidiaries are an integral part of the control systems.
During these visits business issues, risks, financial results and
future prospects are discussed with local operational management.

Monitoring of compliance with the group's system of internal
financial control is undertaken by all levels of management and
reinforced by the roles fulfilled by the audit and treasury
committees. The group's external auditors are specifically charged,
in addition to their statutory audit responsibility, to report to the
audit committee and the board, in writing, departures from the
group accounting manual.

A statement of the directors' responsibilities concerning the
preparation of the financial statements is set out on page 44.

Going concern

The directors consider that the company and the group have
adequate resources for the foreseeable future and therefore
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
accounts.

37

Corporate governance



The remuneration committee

The members of the remuneration committee are Mr J W

Whybrow (Chairman) and Mr D L Tucker. Mr D A Branson,

Company Secretary, acts as secretary.

Remuneration policy

The company's policy is to provide remuneration packages that

fairly reward executives for the contribution they make to the

business, having regard to the size and complexity of the group's

business operations and the need to attract, retain and motivate

executives of appropriate calibre. Remuneration packages comprise:

salary, performance bonuses, share options, benefits in kind and

pensions. Full consideration has been given to section B of the Best

Practice Provisions annexed to the Stock Exchange Listing Rules and

the need to align directors' and shareholders' interests.

Salaries

Basic salaries are determined having regard to competitive market

data obtained from remuneration and benefits surveys and other

available external data, the degree of individual responsibility,

individual performance and after giving consideration to the wider

employment scene, including general pay and employment

conditions elsewhere in the group.

Service agreements

UK executive directors, except for Mr Watson who retires on

30 November 1998, have service agreements which are, initially,

for a fixed term of two years. At the end of the first year, and

annually thereafter, they are reviewed and, subject to the approval

of the committee, extended for a further year.

Mr Banks, Mr Thomas and Mr Descours do not have service

agreements with the company or any group company.

All service agreements issued to newly appointed UK executive

directors after 1 August 1998 will be subject to 12 months' notice of

termination if given by the company and six months' notice of

termination if given by the executive director. The committee does

not consider it appropriate to amend the terms of contracts in

existence at 1 August 1998 without compensation, and that any

such compensation would not be in the company's or the

shareholders' best interests.

There are no provisions in any service agreement for early

termination payments. In the event of early termination of any

service agreement the committee takes a robust view of the

mitigation which should be taken into account when computing

compensation payable.

Performance bonuses

Performance bonus arrangements are designed to encourage

operating efficiencies and profitable growth, thereby enhancing

shareholder value. Bonus payments to UK based executives,

Mr Watson and Mr Thomas are dependent upon achievement of

individual performance targets based on the relationship of the

current year's trading profit to the higher of:

(a) a base return on average assets employed including goodwill;

and

(b) the average of the previous five years' relevant trading profit.

The annual bonuses of Mr Banks (USA) and Mr Descours (France)

are related to the earnings of the respective businesses for which

they are responsible.

Pensions

All UK executive directors participate in the Wolseley Group

Retirement Benefits Plan (``the Plan'') on generally the same terms

as all other eligible employees. The Plan is a defined benefits

scheme and provides benefits based on final pensionable salaries.

The companies make contributions to the Plan based on the

recommendation of the Plan actuary. Contribution rates, based on

pensionable salaries, are 9.3% or 17% per annum, depending

upon the employing company. Additionally, executives contribute

4% per annum of pensionable salary.

In common with many participants in the Plan, bonuses payable

to UK directors are pensionable. The committee has again

reviewed this aspect of the remuneration arrangements of the

board and has concluded that it would be inappropriate to vary

these long standing arrangements since they form an integral part

of the overall remuneration package.

The company has a future obligation to Mr S P Webster to pay the

difference between his pensionable entitlement based upon the

relevant portion of his final salary and the maximum amount

payable under the rules of the Plan. The additional arrangements

are designed to provide Mr Webster with a pension equivalent to

that which he would have received under the rules of the Plan

had there been no ``earnings cap''. The amount charged to the

profit and loss account during the year in respect of this future

obligation was £18,443 (1997 £18,900).

Mr Banks and Mr Thomas participate in the defined contribution

pension arrangements of Ferguson Enterprises.

Mr Descours participates in the defined benefits pension

arrangements of Brossette BTI.

The company has a commitment to the wife of a former UK

director to pay a pension of £6,035 per annum (1997 £5,861)

adjusted by the annual increase in the retail price index. This

commitment is unfunded although the actuarial cost of the

arrangement has been fully provided.

A US subsidiary undertaking has a commitment to a former

director, who is a United States citizen, to pay a joint survivor

pension of $300,000 per annum for fifteen years from 1 August

1993. The net present value of the future obligation at 31 July

1998 was £1.3 million (1997 £1.4 million) which has been

charged in prior years' accounts.

Additionally, a French subsidiary undertaking has a commitment to

a former director, who is a French citizen, to pay an annual
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pension of FF1,301,200, with a widow's entitlement of 60%,

subject to an annual increase based on the agreed French pension

index. The full actuarial cost of this arrangement was provided in

previous years as part of Brossette's ongoing pension obligations.

Wolseley plc is guarantor of the future pension commitment which

at 31 July 1998 was approximately £2.4 million

(1997 £2.3 million).

The following table shows the directors participating in the group

UK defined benefits plan and the amounts of pension

entitlements earned, the accrued pension liabilities and the

changes therein. These pension liabilities are calculated using the

cash equivalent transfer value method prescribed in the Listing

Rules of the London Stock Exchange.

Increase in Total Increase in

accrued accrued transfer

pension pension as value

during at 31 July during

1998 1998 1998

£000 £000 £000

J W G Young 35 194 470

I E Humphries 6 36 83

A J Hutton 6 84 65

J C Watson 3 128 14

S P Webster 1 6 26

The transfer values shown above are not payable to the

individuals concerned.

The following table shows those directors participating in money

purchase pension plans and the group's contributions thereto:

1998 1997

£000 £000

C A Banks 123 112

J B Thomas 45 44

S P Webster 20 19

188 175

Other benefits

UK executive directors receive certain other benefits principally

related to the provision of company cars and health care

arrangements.

Non-executive directors

Non-executive directors, except for the Chairman whose fee is

fixed by the remuneration committee, are paid fees which are

reviewed from time to time by the board. The non-executive

directors have letters of appointment which expire as follows:

Mr Ireland and Mr Tucker on 31 July 1999 and Mr Whybrow on

31 July 2000. Non-executive directors do not participate in any

incentive plan nor is any pension payable in respect of their

services as non-executive directors.

Directors' remuneration
Salary 1998 1997

& fees Bonus Benefits Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chairman
R Ireland (non-executive) 120 ± 1 121 100

Executive directors

J W G Young 300 75 12 387 306

C A Banks (USA) 273 490 26 789 756

I E Humphries 168 16 9 193 185

A J Hutton 175 42 17 234 226

B Monk 168 35 6 209 179
(retired 31 July 1998)

G Pinault (France) 15 ± 1 16 211
(retired 12 December 1997)

J B Thomas (USA) 379 89 17 485 490

J C Watson 204 35 11 250 219

S P Webster 200 50 27 277 244

Non-executive directors

Sir Timothy Harford 13 ± ± 13 30
(retired 12 December 1997)

D L Tucker 25 ± ± 25 25

J W Whybrow 25 ± ± 25 ±
(appointed 1 August 1997)

2,065 832 127 3,024 2,971

Pension contributions to
money purchase plans ± ± ± 188 175

Pensions to former directors ± ± ± 238 190

Aggregate gain on exercise
of share options ± ± ± 191 569

2,065 832 127 3,641 3,905

Highest paid director 1998 1997

£000 £000

Aggregate emoluments and
gains on share options 840 756

Share option

The company operates Executive Share Option Schemes for

executive directors and other senior group executives. Such

options have not been and will not be granted at a discount to

the relevant middle market price at the time of grant.

The committee considers annually the levels of grants, which are

phased over time.

Options granted prior to 31 May 1994 are not subject to any

minimum performance target.

Options granted between May 1994 and December 1996 may

not be exercised unless the growth in earnings per share over a

period of three consecutive financial years exceeds the growth in

the UK retail price index over the same period by at least 6%.
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More stringent performance targets were approved by

shareholders at last year's AGM. Options granted to executive

directors in December 1997, and subsequently, may not be

exercised unless, inter alia, growth in earnings per share over a

period of three consecutive financial years exceeds growth in the

UK retail price index over the same period by at least 9%. In

addition, the number of options exercisable is determined by the

return on capital employed achieved over the same rolling three

year period. Achieving a return on capital employed of 15% per

annum will enable 50% of options granted to become exercisable,

rising on a sliding scale to 100% for achieving a return on capital

employed of 20% or more.

Executive directors may also participate in the savings related

share option scheme.

Executive share option schemes

Options Options at Options at

Name of Subscription exercisable 31 July 1 August

director price between 1998 1997

C A Banks 151.50 1993-2000 ± 14,000
203.25 1995-2002 14,000 14,000
220.75 1995-2002 15,000 15,000
350.25 1996-2003 19,200 19,200
388.75 1997-2004 16,800 16,800
440.00 1998-2005 14,500 14,500
483.50 2000-2007 35,000* ±

I E Humphries 350.25 1996-2003 9,600 9,600
388.75 1997-2004 9,600 9,600
433.00 1998-2005 15,000 15,000
483.50 2000-2007 35,000* ±

A J Hutton 388.75 1997-2004 16,800 16,800
433.00 1998-2005 16,800 16,800
483.50 2000-2007 35,000* ±

J B Thomas 135.50 1992-1999 12,000 12,000
151.50 1993-2000 10,000 10,000
203.25 1995-2002 10,000 10,000
220.75 1995-2002 12,000 12,000
350.25 1996-2003 11,200 11,200
388.75 1997-2004 8,000 8,000
440.00 1998-2005 14,500 14,500
483.50 2000-2007 35,000* ±

J C Watson 388.75 1997-2004 16,800 16,800
433.00 1998-2005 16,800 16,800

S P Webster 388.75 1997-2004 ± 100,000
433.00 1998-2005 16,800 16,800
483.50 2000-2007 35,000* ±

J W G Young 220.75 1995-2002 18,000 18,000
350.25 1996-2003 16,800 16,800
388.75 1997-2004 23,000 23,000
433.00 1998-2005 23,000 23,000
483.50 2000-2007 53,000* ±

*As no options were granted to directors in 1996, due to the scheme being
under review, the remuneration committee decided to grant options in
1997 under the more stringent performance targets over a number of
shares equal to approximately twice the normal annual level.

During the year directors exercised options over 114,000 ordinary

shares of 25 pence each as follows:

Name of Middle market price

director Date of exercise No of shares at date of exercise

C A Banks 17 November 1997 14,000 515.00p

S P Webster 24 November 1997 100,000 510.75p

Savings related share option scheme

Option Options at Options at

Name of Subscription period 31 July 1 August

director price expires in 1998 1997

I E Humphries 379.00 1999 1,820 1,820
275.00 2000 1,254 1,254
409.00 2002 1,687 1,687

A J Hutton 149.00 1998 ± 6,040
368.00 2001 2,119 2,119
409.00 2002 2,860 2,860

S P Webster 368.00 2001 3,179 3,179
345.00 2003 2,000 ±

J W G Young 156.00 1999 14,423 14,423
345.00 2003 5,000 ±

During the year directors exercised options over 6,040 ordinary

shares of 25 pence each as follows:

Name of Middle market price

director Date of exercise No of shares at date of exercise

A J Hutton 1 April 1998 6,040 450.00p

No options lapsed during the year.

The closing middle market price of the ordinary shares at 31 July

1998 was 350 pence and the range during the year then ended

was 340 pence to 556 pence.

Shares

Directors' interests, including family interests, in Wolseley plc

ordinary shares of 25 pence each were:

31 July 1998 1 August 1997

C A Banks 58,844 44,844

I E Humphries 143,267 143,267

A J Hutton 41,039 34,088

R Ireland 98,941{ 98,898{

J B Thomas 74,344 74,344

D L Tucker 20,000 20,000

J C Watson 74,598{{ 76,783{{

S P Webster 16,891 ±

J W Whybrow 10,000 ±

J W G Young 265,415 261,134

{ includes 44,775 (1997 44,775) ordinary shares of 25 pence each, non
beneficial.

{{ includes 20,000 (1997 20,000) ordinary shares of 25 pence each, non
beneficial.
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The only change in directors' share interests since 31 July 1998

was for Mr Ireland who acquired 34 shares by reinvestment of

dividends by the managers of the company's PEP.

As at 31 July 1998 none of the directors had any beneficial

interest in the shares of subsidiary undertakings. Save as disclosed,

and apart from contracts of employment, none of the directors

had a material beneficial interest in any contract of significance to

which the company or any of its subsidiary undertakings was a

party during the financial year.

On behalf of the board

J W Whybrow

Chairman, Remuneration Committee

20 October 1998
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The directors of Wolseley plc present their annual report to the

shareholders, together with the audited consolidated accounts of

the company and its subsidiaries, for its financial year ended

31 July 1998.

Principal activities

Wolseley plc is a holding company; its subsidiaries are organised

into divisions which are set out on pages 68 to 70. The principal

activities of the group are the distribution of plumbing and

bathroom materials, central heating equipment, pipes, valves and

fittings in the UK, France, Austria and the USA. Additionally, in the

UK it distributes heavyside building materials and operates tool

hire centres, whilst in the USA the group distributes timber and

other building materials. The group also has significant interests

in the manufacture of burners, boilers, electrical components, the

distribution of photographic equipment, and tractor parts and

accessories. It also manufactures engineering and plastic

products.

Other matters which may be material for the appreciation of the

state of the group's affairs are contained in the Chairman's Review,

the Chief Executive's Review and the Finance Director's Review on

pages 4 to 35 which should be read in conjunction with this

report.

Results and dividends

The group profit before tax for the year amounted to

£274.2 million (1997 £264.2 million). The way in which this

profit has been dealt with is shown in the group profit and loss

account on page 45. An interim dividend of 3.50 pence per share

(1997 3.30 pence) was paid on 31 July 1998. Your directors

recommend a final dividend of 9.00 pence per share (1997

8.10 pence) which, with the interim dividend already paid, will

make total dividends for the year of 12.50 pence per share, an

increase of 9.6% on the 11.40 pence paid in respect of last year.

Payment of the recommended final dividend, if approved at the

annual general meeting, will be made on 29 January 1999 to

shareholders registered at the close of business on 4 December

1998.

The company's scrip dividend alternative has been suspended and

in its place a dividend reinvestment plan will be offered.

Arrangements have been made for shareholders, if they wish, to

use the whole of the cash dividend to buy additional ordinary

shares of the company in the market. Details of this plan, together

with an application form and an explanatory booklet will be sent to

shareholders during December.

An analysis of turnover and trading profit is given in note 1 to the

accounts on page 50. Of the group's trading profit £192.5 million

(1997 £190.3 million) was earned outside the United Kingdom.

Post balance sheet events

Details of significant events affecting the company and any of its

subsidiary undertakings are referred to on page 66.

Share capital

During the year ended 31 July 1998 the company issued

3,008,356 ordinary shares of 25 pence each. Full details of these

issues including, where appropriate, the amounts subscribed for

new shares, are set out in note 19 to the accounts on pages 57

and 58 which also contains details of options granted over

unissued capital.

Acquisitions/disposals

Details of acquisitions and disposals made during the year are

contained in the Finance Director's Review on pages 31 to 35.

Future developments

It remains your board's intention to develop the group through

organic growth and by selective acquisitions.

Directors

The present directors of the company are shown on page 36. With

the exception of Mr Jacques-ReÂgis Descours, who was appointed on

1 September 1998, the present directors held office for the whole

of the year. In accordance with the company's articles of association

Mr C A Banks, Mr I E Humphries and Mr D L Tucker retire by

rotation at the annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer

themselves for re-election. As Mr Descours was appointed to the

board since the date of the last annual general meeting he will retire

in accordance with the company's articles of association and, being

eligible, offers himself for election. Further details of the directors,

their service agreements and their interests in the company's

securities, are given on page 36 and pages 38 to 41.

Other business at the annual general meeting

1. Share capital

Resolution 5 seeks your approval for renewal of the authority

given at last year's annual general meeting to enable your

directors to a limited extent to issue equity securities for cash

without first offering such securities to existing shareholders in

proportion to their holdings. The authority being sought is for a

maximum nominal value of £7,162,000, being approximately

5% of the issued share capital of the company at the date

hereof.

The authority will expire at the earlier of the conclusion of the next

annual general meeting of the company or 15 months after the

forthcoming annual general meeting. It is not currently the

intention of your directors to issue for cash any part of the

unissued share capital for purposes other than upon the exercise

of options granted under the company's share option schemes.

2. Purchase of own shares

At the extraordinary general meeting of the company held on

14 April 1989 the company was authorised, subject to certain

limitations, to purchase its own shares on the London Stock

Exchange. At that time it was the stated intention of your directors

that a resolution for the renewal of this authority would be

proposed at the next and each succeeding annual general
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meeting. Resolution 6 as set out in the notice of meeting

effectively seeks your approval for the renewal of this authority.

The maximum price which may be paid for each share is an

amount equal to 105% of the average of the middle market

quotations for an ordinary share of the company derived from the

Stock Exchange Daily Official List for each of the ten business days

immediately preceding the day on which the ordinary share is

purchased. The minimum price will be 25p. The power will be

limited to 57,297,233 shares being 10% of the total ordinary

shares in issue at the date hereof and will expire at the conclusion

of the next annual general meeting of the company.

No shares have yet been purchased pursuant to this authority.

However, your directors seek renewal of this authority as they wish

to be able to respond promptly should circumstances arise in

which they consider such a purchase would result in an increase

in earnings per share and would be in the best interests of the

company.

Borrowing powers

The company's articles of association permit the group to have

borrowings equal to twice the adjusted consolidated capital and

reserves as defined therein. For these purposes certain specified

items, including borrowings for the purpose of the construction

loan programme, are not required to be included in total

borrowings. The existing term loan facility and revolving credit

facilities contain covenants which are more restrictive than the

permitted borrowing powers.

Creditor payment policy

All group companies are responsible for establishing terms and

conditions of trading with their suppliers. It is the group's policy

that payments to suppliers are made within agreed terms and,

where applicable, consistent with the CBI Prompt Payers Code.

Copies of this Code can be obtained from the Company Secretary

at the company's registered office.

At 31 July 1998 the company had no trade creditors. The amount

of trade creditors for the group as at 31 July 1998 was equivalent

to 43 days of trade purchases.

Employment policies

All employees and prospective employees are provided with equal

opportunities for recruitment, career development and promotion.

Applications for employment from disabled persons are given full

and fair consideration. Employees that become disabled are

retained within the business where possible.

Employee communication is primarily the responsibility of local

management. Copies of the annual report are sent to each

subsidiary to assist in this process and a group newspaper is

provided to each employee annually. Local training initiatives are

supported by annual group awards for management and career

development. Following appropriate consultation with employees

and their representatives, a European Works Council was formed

in late 1996 with representatives from seven EU states, including

the UK.

There are currently 2,762 participants in the UK save-as-you-earn

share option scheme and 1,428 US employees participating in the

Stock Appreciation Plan.

There are 177 participants in the executive share option scheme.

In accordance with the authority given to the board at the

extraordinary general meeting held on 14 April 1989, an Overseas

Employees Stock Appreciation Plan was adopted in 1997 and the

Wolseley Employees Savings Related Share Option Scheme 1998

was adopted this year. Both schemes are primarily designed to

extend to certain non-UK resident employees benefits similar to

those currently offered to UK employees through the save-as-you-

earn share option scheme. Shares issued pursuant to the

Overseas Stock Appreciation Plan and the Wolseley Employees

Savings Related Share Option Scheme 1998 will be within the

overall limits already approved for the Wolseley Employees Savings

Related Share Option Scheme 1981. It remains the board's

intention to extend such schemes to overseas territories in which

the group has significant operations. In March 1998 the company

established the Wolseley Qualifying Employee Share Ownership

Trust (the ``QUEST'') for the purpose of distributing ordinary shares

in the company on exercise of options under the Wolseley

Employees Savings Related Share Option Scheme 1981. The

trustee of the QUEST is Wolseley QUEST Limited, which is a

subsidiary of the company. All employees of UK group companies,

including executive directors of the company, are potential

beneficiaries of the QUEST.

The group continues to operate on a highly decentralised basis.

This provides the maximum encouragement to the development

of entrepreneurial flair, balanced by a rigorous control framework

exercised by a small head office team. Local management are

responsible for maintaining high standards of health and safety

and for ensuring that there is appropriate employee involvement

in decision making.

Environment

Wolseley is sensitive to the need to support and protect the

environment. Whilst the activities of the group have a relatively

low environmental impact, the group's business procedures

include a requirement for all subsidiaries to implement

appropriate environmental monitoring and reporting systems. As a

matter of policy, environmental surveys are undertaken by

environmental consultants on all significant prospective

acquisitions. The distribution companies are active in supplying

materials to assist customers in their efforts to protect and

improve the environment.

The energy companies produce burners and boilers that are

designed to meet the highest environmental requirements in

Europe. Their objective is to be ahead of the Swiss emission

standards which are amongst the most stringent in the world. The

company, and its UK subsidiaries, have in place the necessary

procedures to meet the requirements of The Producer
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Responsibility Obligations (Packaging Waste) Regulations 1997.

Many group companies now pack goods only in recyclable

materials and, where appropriate, require that their suppliers do

the same.

Substantial shareholders

On 20 October 1998 the company had been notified of the

following interests in its issued share capital:

Ordinary % of issued

shares of ordinary

25p each capital

Merrill Lynch and Co Inc

(including group companies) 63,563,796 11.09

Prudential Corporation group 20,720,931 3.62

Taxation

The company is not a close company within the provisions of the

Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988.

The official price of a Wolseley plc ordinary share on 31 March

1982, adjusted for all subsequent capitalisation and rights issues is

55.5 pence.

PEPs

The company has a General PEP (Personal Equity Plan) and a

Single Company PEP which are managed by Bradford & Bingley

(PEPs) Limited. Shares in Wolseley plc held in these plans are

currently not liable to capital gains tax when sold, and dividends

are not liable to income tax. Full details of these schemes are

available on request from the company's registered office.

As a result of changes in UK tax law, with effect from 5 April 1999

no new PEP accounts may be opened and no additional

contributions may be made to existing PEP accounts. Investments

held in PEPs after 5 April 1999 will continue to attract tax benefits

as regards capital gains and dividend income. The company will

review new financial products that emerge as possible

replacements to PEPs.

As at 31 July 1998 291,930 ordinary shares of 25 pence each

were held in the two Personal Equity Plans sponsored by the

company.

Charitable and political contributions

During the year the group made contributions for charitable

purposes within the United Kingdom of £20,000 (1997

£22,000). No contributions were made to political parties.

Auditors

Following the merger of Price Waterhouse with Coopers &

Lybrand, Price Waterhouse resigned as the company's auditors

and the directors appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers to fill the

casual vacancy in the office of auditors. PricewaterhouseCoopers

have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditors.

Special notice having been received by the company, a resolution

for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers, and for their

remuneration to be fixed by the directors, will be proposed at the

annual general meeting.

On behalf of the board

D A Branson

Secretary

Wolseley plc

Droitwich Spa Registered No. 29846

20 October 1998 England

Directors' responsibilities for the
financial statements
The directors are required by United Kingdom company law to

prepare accounts for each financial period which give a true and

fair view of the state of affairs of the company and the group as at

the end of the financial period and of the profit or loss for that

period.

Following discussions with the auditors, the directors consider that

in preparing the accounts, appropriate accounting policies have

been used and applied consistently, supported by reasonable and

prudent judgements and estimates, and that applicable accounting

standards have also been applied.

The directors are also responsible for maintaining adequate

accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the

financial position of the company and the group and which enable

them to ensure that the accounts comply with the Companies Act

1985.

The directors have general responsibility for taking such steps as

are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the

company and the group and to prevent and detect fraud or any

other irregularities.
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Continuing 1998

operations Acquisitions Total 1997

Notes £m £m £m £m

TURNOVER 1 4,684.5 75.0 4,759.5 4,601.9

Costs less other income 2 (4,412.5) (69.6) (4,482.1) (4,337.5)

TRADING PROFIT 1,3 272.0 5.4 277.4 264.4

Net loss on disposal of operations 23 (5.3) ±

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE INTEREST 272.1 264.4

Net interest receivable/(payable) 4 2.1 (0.2)

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAX

Before exceptional item 279.5 264.2

Exceptional item 23 (5.3) ±

274.2 264.2

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 5

Before exceptional item (92.2) (87.2)

Exceptional item 23 (5.6) ±

(97.8) (87.2)

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER TAX 176.4 177.0

Minority interests ± equity (0.4) (0.4)

PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 176.0 176.6

Ordinary dividends 6 (71.7) (65.0)

PROFIT RETAINED AND TRANSFERRED TO RESERVES 104.3 111.6

EARNINGS PER SHARE 7

Before exceptional item 32.70p 31.07p

Exceptional item including tax (1.90p) ±

Total 30.80p 31.07p

Group statement of total recognised
gains and losses year ended 31 July 1998

1998 1997

£m £m

PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 176.0 176.6

Currency translation differences (0.3) (18.1)

TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 175.7 158.5
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The group The company
AA

1998 1997 1998 1997

Notes £m £m £m £m

FIXED ASSETS

Tangible assets 9 316.2 295.5 ± ±

Investments 10 ± ± 1,102.9 1,104.4

316.2 295.5 1,102.9 1,104.4

CURRENT ASSETS

Stocks 11 697.9 661.3 ± ±

Debtors ± receivable within one year 12 868.1 799.9 591.9 318.0

± receivable after one year 12 ± ± 29.0 32.6

Construction loans 13 148.1 133.3 ± ±

Investments 14 2.6 2.5 ± ±

Cash and deposits 363.9 282.5 ± ±

2,080.6 1,879.5 620.9 350.6

CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year

Short term borrowings 15 220.0 195.2 206.8 29.5

Construction loans 13 147.3 132.2 ± ±

Other creditors 16 809.6 762.6 220.4 211.4

1,176.9 1,090.0 427.2 240.9

NET CURRENT ASSETS 903.7 789.5 193.7 109.7

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,219.9 1,085.0 1,296.6 1,214.1

CREDITORS: amounts falling due after one year

Borrowings 17 188.1 155.6 122.2 91.6

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES 18 92.7 84.6 2.3 3.8

939.1 844.8 1,172.1 1,118.7

EQUITY CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Called up share capital 19 143.2 142.5 143.2 142.5

Share premium account 20 150.6 144.4 150.6 144.4

Capital reserve 20 ± ± 169.3 169.3

Profit and loss account 20 642.6 555.4 709.0 662.5

SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS 936.4 842.3 1,172.1 1,118.7

Minority interests ± equity 20 2.7 2.5 ± ±

939.1 844.8 1,172.1 1,118.7

The accounts on pages 45 to 66 were approved by the board of directors on 20 October 1998 and were signed on its behalf by:

Richard Ireland Chairman
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1998 1997

Notes £m £m

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 26 313.3 246.0

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from returns on

investments and servicing of finance 27 (1.6) 1.1

Taxation paid (92.7) (74.2)

Capital expenditure 27 (72.7) (64.0)

Acquisitions 24 (113.3) (91.5)

Disposals 25 56.9 0.3

Equity dividends paid (60.3) (58.7)

Cash inflow/(outflow) before use of liquid resources and financing 29.6 (41.0)

Management of liquid resources 27 (55.2) 24.3

Financing 27 29.3 (33.0)

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH IN PERIOD 3.7 (49.7)

RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO

MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT 28

Increase/(decrease) in cash in period 3.7 (49.7)

Cash flow from (increase)/decrease in debt and lease financing (24.4) 38.5

Cash flow from increase/(decrease) in liquid resources 55.2 (24.3)

Change in net debt resulting from cash flows 34.5 (35.5)

Loans and finance leases acquired with subsidiary (0.3) ±

New finance leases (5.6) (4.9)

Translation difference (4.4) 34.4

Movement in net debt in period 24.2 (6.0)

Opening net debt (65.8) (59.8)

CLOSING NET DEBT (41.6) (65.8)
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Basis of accounting

These accounts are prepared under the historical cost convention

modified to include certain assets at a valuation and in accordance

with applicable accounting standards.

Basis of consolidation

The group accounts include the results of the parent company and

its subsidiary undertakings drawn up to 31 July.

The trading results of businesses acquired, sold or discontinued

during the year are included in profit on ordinary activities from

the date of effective acquisition or up to the date of sale or

discontinuance, unless provision therefor has been made in earlier

years.

Foreign currencies

The trading results of overseas subsidiary undertakings are

translated into sterling using average rates of exchange ruling

during the relevant financial period.

The balance sheets of overseas subsidiary undertakings are

translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at

31 July. Exchange differences arising between the translation into

sterling of the net assets of these subsidiary undertakings at rates

ruling at the beginning and end of the year are dealt with through

reserves as are exchange differences on foreign currency

borrowings raised to finance overseas assets.

Exchange differences on financial instruments entered into for

foreign currency net assets hedging purposes are dealt with

through reserves.

The cost of the company's investments in overseas subsidiary

undertakings is translated into sterling at the rate ruling at the date

of investment.

All other foreign currency assets and liabilities of the company and

its United Kingdom subsidiary undertakings are translated into

sterling at the rate ruling at 31 July except in those instances

where forward cover has been arranged, in which case this

forward rate is used.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into

sterling at the rate of exchange ruling on the date of the

transaction. Any exchange differences are dealt with through the

profit and loss account.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on consolidation and purchased goodwill is

written off to reserves.

Goodwill arises when the cost of acquiring subsidiary undertakings

and businesses exceeds the fair value attributed to the net assets

acquired. In appropriate circumstances relief is taken under section

131 of the Companies Act 1985 to value shares issued in

exchange for shares of an acquired subsidiary at their nominal

value. In such circumstances the value of the consideration is

stated at its fair value on consolidation. The resulting merger

reserve is utilised to write off goodwill arising on consolidation.

The net assets of businesses acquired are incorporated in the

consolidated accounts at their fair value to the group. Fair value

adjustments principally relate to adjustments necessary to bring

the accounting policies of acquired businesses into line with those

of the Wolseley group but may also include other adjustments

necessary to restate assets and liabilities at their fair values at the

date of acquisition. All businesses acquired are consolidated using

the acquisition method of accounting.

Turnover

Turnover is the amount receivable for the provision of goods and

services falling within the group's ordinary activities, excluding intra

group sales, trade discounts, value added tax and similar sales

taxes.

Leased assets

Where fixed assets are financed by leasing agreements which give

rights approximating to ownership, the assets are treated as if they

had been purchased and the capital element of the leasing

commitments is included in borrowings. The rentals payable are

apportioned between interest, which is charged to the profit and

loss account, and capital, which reduces the outstanding

obligation. Costs in respect of operating leases are charged in

arriving at the trading profit.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets (except

freehold land) mainly on a straight line basis to write off the cost

of those assets over their estimated useful lives. The principal rates

of depreciation are: freehold buildings and long leaseholds, 2%;

short leaseholds, over the period of the lease; plant and

machinery, 10±15%; fixtures and fittings, 15%; computers,

20±100% and motor vehicles, 25%.

Real property awaiting disposal

Real property awaiting disposal is transferred to current assets at

the lower of book written down value and estimated net realisable

value. Depreciation is not applied to real property awaiting

disposal, but the carrying value is reviewed annually and written

down through the profit and loss account to current estimated net

realisable value if lower.

Stocks

Stocks are valued at the lower of group cost and net realisable

value, due allowance being made for obsolete or slow moving

items. Raw materials, bought out components and goods

purchased for resale are stated at cost on a first in, first out basis.

In the case of goods of own manufacture, cost includes the

relevant proportion of factory overheads.
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Taxation

Provision is made for deferred tax only insofar as an asset or

liability is likely to crystallise in the foreseeable future.

Provision is made for UK or foreign taxation arising on the

distribution to the UK of retained profits of overseas subsidiary

undertakings where it is intended to distribute such profits.

Advance corporation tax recoverable on the proposed dividend is

offset as far as possible in the group balance sheet against the

deferred tax provision. Any excess advance corporation tax which is

recoverable with reasonable certainty, either against mainstream

corporation tax on the following year's profit, or by carry back, is

carried forward as an asset.

No provision for tax is made on gains arising during the year on

property disposals to the extent that roll-over relief or capital losses

are available.

Product development expenditure

All such expenditure is written off in the year in which it is

incurred.

Pensions

In the main, it is the policy of the group to provide for pension

liabilities by payments to trusts whose assets are completely

separate from the assets of the group. Such liabilities are funded

by the payment of contributions based on the advice of

independent actuaries or in accordance with the rules of the

scheme.

The amount charged to the profit and loss account in respect of

defined benefit pension plans is the amount calculated by

independent actuaries as being the expected cost of providing

pensions on a systematic and rational basis over the period during

which the group expects to derive benefit from the employees'

services. Additionally, certain amounts are charged in accordance

with the rules of defined contribution pension plans. The cost of

ex gratia pensions is provided in full in the year in which they are

awarded.

Product warranties

Provision is made for the estimated liability on all products still

under warranty.
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1. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Analysis of change in sales
New Increment Movement in

acquisitions on 1997 operations

1997 Exchange 1998 acquisitions discontinued Organic change 1998

£m £m £m £m £m £m % £m

Building Distribution ± Europe 1,597.9 (76.4) 5.6 30.5 ± 72.2 4.7 1,629.8
Building Distribution ± USA 2,499.9 (35.6) 64.6 76.7 ± 96.3 3.9 2,701.9
Manufacturing 366.5 (11.6) 4.8 21.6 ± (0.8) (0.2) 380.5

4,464.3 (123.6) 75.0 128.8 ± 167.7 3.9 4,712.2

Operations discontinued 137.6 (0.4) ± ± (89.9) ± ± 47.3

4,601.9 (124.0) 75.0 128.8 (89.9) 167.7 ± 4,759.5

Analysis of change in trading profit New Increment Movement in

acquisitions on 1997 operations

1997 Exchange 1998 acquisitions discontinued Organic change 1998

£m £m £m £m £m £m % £m

Building Distribution ± Europe 98.1 (4.1) 0.7 1.3 ± 10.3 11.0 106.3
Building Distribution ± USA 133.0 (1.9) 4.4 3.8 ± 0.1 ± 139.4
Manufacturing 33.2 (1.0) 0.3 0.9 ± 0.4 1.2 33.8

264.3 (7.0) 5.4 6.0 ± 10.8 4.2 279.5

One-off costs of Familian Corp integration ± ± ± ± ± (4.3) ± (4.3)
Operations discontinued 0.1 0.1 ± ± 2.0 ± ± 2.2

264.4 (6.9) 5.4 6.0 2.0 6.5 ± 277.4

Trading

Turnover profit Net assets

1998 1997 1998 1997 1998 1997

£m £m £m £m £m £m

By class of business
Building Distribution ± Europe 1,636.0 1,607.2 107.0 97.8 405.9 381.6
Building Distribution ± USA 2,701.9 2,499.9 135.1 133.0 675.8 607.0
Manufacturing 421.6 494.8 35.3 33.6 125.0 132.5
Parent and other ± ± ± ± (110.8) (104.0)

4,759.5 4,601.9 277.4 264.4 1,095.9 1,017.1

Manufacturing is, in the main, conducted in Europe. Included in this division are businesses based in the USA which had aggregate turnover
of £80.7m (1997 £55.5m), trading profit of £3.7m (1997 £3.5m) and net assets of £22.0m (1997 £15.0m).
Net assets are defined as tangible fixed assets plus net current assets, less provisions for liabilities and charges but excluding investments,
cash, borrowings, tax and dividends payable.
The divisional trading profits are stated after the allocation of central costs and charges.

Turnover by geographical origin and destination 1998 1997

£m £m

United Kingdom 1,168.4 1,174.7
France 486.8 516.1
Austria 186.7 208.0
United States 2,786.3 2,559.4
Rest of the World 131.3 143.7

4,759.5 4,601.9

Included in turnover arising in the United Kingdom are exports to the European Union amounting to £25.9m (1997 £35.5m). Exports to
other territories are not material.
Turnover between business and geographical segments is not material.
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2. COSTS LESS OTHER INCOME
Continuing 1998 1997

operations Acquisitions Total

£m £m £m £m

Change in stocks of finished goods and
work in progress (11.1) (0.7) (11.8) (58.3)

Own work capitalised ± ± ± (0.3)
Other operating income (22.2) ± (22.2) (25.8)
Raw materials and consumables 3,458.3 49.8 3,508.1 3,406.6
Staff costs (note 8) 590.8 15.3 606.1 577.5
Depreciation 53.6 0.8 54.4 50.8
Other operating charges 343.1 4.4 347.5 387.0

4,412.5 69.6 4,482.1 4,337.5

3. AMOUNTS CHARGED IN ARRIVING AT TRADING PROFIT
1998 1997

£m £m

Product research and development 2.8 3.4
Operating lease rentals:
Plant and machinery 3.5 4.2
Other operating leases 51.1 49.1
(Profits)/losses from operations discontinued (2.2) 3.4
One-off integration costs relating to Familian Corp 4.3 ±
Audit fees paid to firms other than the auditors 0.1 0.1

Amounts payable to the auditors:
Audit fees Company 0.1 0.1

Group 1.9 2.0
Taxation UK 1.6 0.9

Rest of world 0.3 0.4
Due diligence reviews UK 0.2 0.2

Rest of world 0.3 0.4
Other services UK 0.1 0.1

Rest of world 0.1 0.2

Total fees payable to the auditors 4.6 4.3

4. NET INTEREST RECEIVABLE/(PAYABLE)
1998 1997

£m £m

Interest receivable 41.8 32.9
Interest payable:
Borrowings wholly repayable within five years (39.2) (32.6)
Long term loans any part of which is repayable after five years (0.5) (0.5)

2.1 (0.2)

Net interest receivable on construction loans amounted to £5.0m (1997 £4.1m).
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5. TAX

The corporate tax rates applicable in the countries in which the group principally operated are:

UK 31% (1997 32.3%)
France 41.7% (1997 41.7%)
USA 35% federal tax (1997 35%) plus appropriate rates of state tax
Austria 34% (1997 34%)

The taxation charge for the year comprises: 1998 1997

£m £m

Current year corporation tax
UK 30.9 25.0
Overseas 68.7 63.4

Prior year adjustments
UK (0.8) (1.0)
Overseas (6.6) (0.2)

92.2 87.2
Tax on exceptional items (note 23) 5.6 ±

97.8 87.2

No provision is required for deferred tax, nor is there any potential liability for which provision has not been made.

6. DIVIDENDS

1998 1997

£m £m

Interim paid 3.50p per share (1997 3.30p) 20.1 18.8
Final proposed 9.00p per share (1997 8.10p) 51.6 46.2

12.50p per share (1997 11.40p) 71.7 65.0

7. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share are calculated on the profit accruing to ordinary share capital of £176.0m (1997 £176.6m) and on a weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year of 571.3m (1997 568.5m). The earnings per share before exceptional item is calculated
on the profit accruing to ordinary share capital of £186.9m.
The potential dilution which would arise on the exercise of outstanding options is not material.

8. EMPLOYEE INFORMATION AND DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

Continuing 1998 1997

operations Acquisitions Total

£m £m £m £m

Wages and salaries 503.2 13.8 517.0 490.9
Social security costs 69.8 1.5 71.3 70.3
Other pension costs (note 32) 17.8 ± 17.8 16.3

590.8 15.3 606.1 577.5

Details of directors' remuneration and share options are set out in the remuneration report on pages 38 to 41.

52

Notes to the accounts year ended 31 July 1998



8. EMPLOYEE INFORMATION (continued)

The average weekly number of employees was:
1998 1997

Building Distribution ± Europe 8,751 8,481
Building Distribution ± USA 12,711 11,675
Manufacturing 4,371 4,799

25,833 24,955

9. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

The Group Land and buildings

Plant,
Leasehold machinery,

Freehold Long term Short term equipment Total

£m £m £m £m £m

Cost or valuation
At 1 August 1997 181.6 8.8 61.8 332.3 584.5
Exchange rate adjustment 1.2 ± ± 2.3 3.5
New businesses 2.7 0.1 0.1 9.7 12.6
Additions 18.7 0.2 13.9 55.3 88.1
Disposals and transfers (0.7) ± (10.8) (46.5) (58.0)
Property awaiting disposal (5.6) ± ± ± (5.6)

At 31 July 1998 197.9 9.1 65.0 353.1 625.1

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 August 1997 35.7 1.8 32.8 218.7 289.0
Exchange rate adjustment 0.6 ± ± 1.9 2.5
New businesses 0.1 0.1 ± 6.5 6.7
Charge for the year ± owned assets 4.7 0.3 5.9 41.6 52.5

± leased assets ± ± 0.3 3.8 4.1
Disposals and transfers (1.0) ± (3.7) (40.4) (45.1)
Property awaiting disposal (0.8) ± ± ± (0.8)

At 31 July 1998 39.3 2.2 35.3 232.1 308.9

Owned assets 158.6 6.9 27.1 113.4 306.0
Assets under finance leases ± ± 2.6 7.6 10.2

Net book amount ± 31 July 1998 158.6 6.9 29.7 121.0 316.2

Net book amount ± 1 August 1997 145.9 7.0 29.0 113.6 295.5

The costs of tangible fixed assets at 31 July 1998 included £10.9m (1997 £9.6m) in respect of assets in the course of construction.

Freehold land which is included above and amounts to £43.5m (1997 £40.2m) is not depreciated.

The difference between the depreciated historical cost and the depreciated revalued amount of land and buildings is not material.
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10. INVESTMENTS

The company Investment in subsidiaries

Net book

Cost Provisions amount

£m £m £m

At 1 August 1997 1,122.4 (18.0) 1,104.4
Additions intra group 46.2 (1.5) 44.7
Disposals (47.5) ± (47.5)
Movement in provisions ± 1.3 1.3

At 31 July 1998 1,121.1 (18.2) 1,102.9

Included in the above are 2,051 shares held by the QUEST.

The principal subsidiary undertakings of the group and details of the nature of the shares held are listed on pages 68 to 70 of these
accounts.

A complete list of subsidiary undertakings is available on request to the company and will be filed with the next Annual Return to the
Registrar of Companies.

11. STOCKS

The group

1998 1997

£m £m

Raw materials 13.5 15.4
Work in progress 5.1 6.4
Finished goods 12.4 11.1
Goods purchased for resale 666.9 628.4

697.9 661.3

The current replacement cost of stocks does not differ materially from the historical cost stated above.

Certain subsidiary undertakings have consignment stock arrangements with suppliers in the ordinary course of business. Items drawn from
consignment stock are generally invoiced to the companies concerned at the price ruling at the date of drawdown. The value of such stock,
at cost, which has been excluded from the balance sheet in accordance with the application notes included in FRS 5, amounted to £6.8m
(1997 £8.4m).

12. DEBTORS

The group The company

1998 1997 1998 1997

£m £m £m £m

Trade debtors 795.2 739.4 ± ±
Amounts owed by group undertakings:
± receivable within one year ± ± 577.6 311.9
± receivable after one year ± ± 29.0 32.6
Other debtors 24.0 26.2 ± ±
Prepayments and accrued income 41.5 31.0 12.4 1.1
Corporation tax recoverable ± ± ± 2.9
Property awaiting disposal 7.4 3.3 1.9 2.1

868.1 799.9 620.9 350.6
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13. CONSTRUCTION LOANS

The group

1998 1997

£m £m

Construction loans receivable ± secured 148.1 133.3
Borrowing to finance construction loans ± unsecured (147.3) (132.2)

0.8 1.1

Construction loans receivable, which are secured principally against homes in the course of construction or completed homes awaiting sale,
are made to customers of Carolina Holdings.

Included in construction loans receivable is an amount of £2.8m (1997 £2.3m) representing properties held for sale in lieu of foreclosed
loans. The properties held for sale are expected to realise at least the net book amount of the foreclosed loans.

Included in the construction loans borrowings is the sum of £85.6m (1997 £101.1m) under a credit facility of £107m which expires on
20 March 2000 and provides for finance so long as construction loans receivable are outstanding.

14. CURRENT ASSET INVESTMENTS

The group The company

1998 1997 1998 1997

£m £m £m £m

French SICAV, bonds and commercial paper 0.8 0.9 ± ±
Austrian marketable securities (A3 bonds) 1.8 1.6 ± ±

2.6 2.5 ± ±

15. SHORT TERM BORROWINGS

The group The company

1998 1997 1998 1997

£m £m £m £m

Bank loans and overdrafts
Secured 0.4 0.2 ± ±
Unsecured 215.4 191.4 206.8 29.5
Other loans:
Secured 3.9 3.6 ± ±
Unsecured 0.3 ± ± ±

220.0 195.2 206.8 29.5

16. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

The group The company

1998 1997 1998 1997

£m £m £m £m

Trade creditors 435.3 408.3 ± ±
Bills of exchange payable 82.3 77.1 ± ±
Amounts owed to group undertakings ± ± 161.4 162.4
Corporation tax 63.6 60.2 1.5 ±
Other tax and social security 25.5 25.0 0.1 0.1
Other creditors 53.1 55.8 3.9 2.2
Accruals and deferred income 98.2 90.0 1.9 0.5
Proposed dividend 51.6 46.2 51.6 46.2

809.6 762.6 220.4 211.4
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17. BORROWINGS FALLING DUE AFTER ONE YEAR

The group The company

1998 1997 1998 1997

£m £m £m £m

Maturity of borrowings
Due in one to two years 4.3 4.6 ± ±
Due in two to five years 176.0 143.0 122.2 91.6
Due in over five years 7.8 8.0 ± ±

188.1 155.6 122.2 91.6

Repayable after five years otherwise than by instalments
US Industrial Revenue Bonds 6.1 6.0 ± ±

Repayable in January 2002 otherwise than by instalments
Revolving credit facility 122.2 91.6 122.2 91.6
Term loan 51.3 49.3 ± ±

Repayable by instalments, any one of which is due for
repayment after five years

Other loans 1.7 2.6 ± ±

Repayable by instalments all of which are due for
repayment within five years

Other loans 6.8 6.1 ± ±

188.1 155.6 122.2 91.6

The revolving credit facility is for $200m. The term loan is for FF500m. Both facilities are unsecured and are committed until 2002 at
variable interest rates related to LIBOR.

Finance lease obligations are secured against the assets concerned.

Other secured loans are secured by various group assets.

18. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

The group
Wolseley Other

Reorganisation Pensions Insurance provisions Acquisitions Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 August 1997 8.7 35.1 16.7 12.2 11.9 84.6
Utilised in the year (0.5) (2.0) (5.0) (0.5) (0.8) (8.8)
Charge for the year 7.9 3.3 6.4 ± (0.2) 17.4
New businesses ± ± ± 0.1 ± 0.1
Businesses sold (0.3) ± ± (1.4) (0.1) (1.8)
Exchange differences ± 0.9 0.1 ± 0.2 1.2
Reclassifications ± ± ± 0.5 (0.5) ±

At 31 July 1998 15.8 37.3 18.2 10.9 10.5 92.7

At 31 July 1998 the company had provisions of £1.9m (1997 £3.4m) for reorganisations and £0.4m (1997 £0.4m) other provisions.

Wolseley Insurance provisions represent the accumulated balance on its general business fund in respect of provisions for outstanding and
potential claims.
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19. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised Allotted and issued

1998 1997 1998 1997

Number of ordinary 25p shares ('000) 800,000 800,000 572,972 569,964
Nominal value of ordinary 25p shares ('000) £200,000 £200,000 £143,243 £142,491
All the allotted and issued shares are fully paid or credited as fully paid.

Allotment of shares
Since 1 August 1997 new ordinary shares of 25 pence each in the company have been issued as follows:

Number of Price per Value/
Allotment date shares share proceeds Purpose of issue

£ £000

Various 752,208 1.490 to 5.183 3,494 Exercise of savings
related share options

Various 1,038,800 1.063 to 4.565 3,103 Exercise of executive
share options

31.1.98 1,164,107 4.941 5,752 Scrip dividend shares
re 1997 final dividend

31.7.98 53,241 4.047 216 Scrip dividend shares
re 1998 interim dividend

3,008,356 12,565

Employees' share option schemes

Savings related share option scheme and stock appreciation plan

The maximum number of shares over which options may be granted (but excluding any which lapse) under all share option schemes and
the stock appreciation plan in any ten year period is 10% of the issued share capital from time to time. The number of shares over which
options may be granted under all such schemes as at 31 July 1998 was 57,297,233 of which 13,093,659 have already been issued
pursuant to options exercised in the ten year period ended on 31 July 1998. As at that date the following options were outstanding under
the Wolseley Employees Savings Related Share Option Scheme 1981 and the Wolseley Stock Appreciation Plan 1997.

Number of shares

under option Price Not exercisable after

186,661 156.00 pence 30 September 1999
101,752 238.00 pence 30 September 2000
327,108 379.00 pence 30 September 1999

95,455 379.00 pence 30 September 2001
708,326 275.00 pence 30 September 2000
186,150 275.00 pence 30 September 2002
483,193 368.00 pence 30 September 2001
131,474 368.00 pence 30 September 2003
570,308 409.00 pence 30 September 2002
146,320 409.00 pence 30 September 2004

1,932,500À 372.00 pence 31 March 2003
1,009,520* 345.00 pence 30 September 2003

211,613* 345.00 pence 30 September 2005
A

6,090,380
A

ÀGranted 14 January 1998
*Granted 17 April 1998
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19. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Executive share option schemes

The maximum number of shares over which options may be granted (but excluding any which lapse) under the rules of the Wolseley
Executive Share Option Schemes 1984 and 1989 in any ten year period is 5% of the issued share capital from time to time. The number
of shares over which options may be granted as at 31 July 1998 was 28,648,616 of which 9,381,106 have already been issued pursuant
to options exercised on or before 31 July 1998. As at that date the following options were outstanding.

Number of shares

Date of grant under option Price Not exercisable after

December 1988 54,000 114.50 pence December 1998
April 1989 24,400 137.00 pence April 1999
November 1989 53,000 135.50 pence November 1999
November 1990 55,400 151.50 pence November 2000
March 1992 128,000 203.25 pence March 2002
November 1992 243,600 220.75 pence November 2002
October 1993 423,200 350.25 pence October 2003
November 1994 888,400 388.75 pence November 2004
November 1995 238,500 440.00 pence November 2005
November 1995 747,800 433.00 pence November 2005
March 1996 64,800 460.00 pence March 2006
Nov/Dec 1996 847,600 456.00 pence Nov/Dec 2006
Dec 1997 887,200 483.50 pence Dec 2007

A

4,655,900
A

20. RESERVES

The group Share Profit and Minority

premium loss interests

£m £m £m

At 1 August 1997 144.4 555.4 2.5
Transfer from profit and loss account ± 104.3 0.4
Shares issued* 6.2 (1.7) ±
Scrip dividend share premium ± 5.7 ±
Goodwill on acquisitions (note 22) ± (56.7) ±
Goodwill written back on disposal (note 23) ± 35.9 ±
Dividends paid ± ± (0.1)
Exchange translations

Increase in borrowings ± (4.2) ±
Increase/(decrease) in other net assets ± 3.9 (0.1)

At 31 July 1998 150.6 642.6 2.7

The company Share Capital Profit and

premium reserve loss

£m £m £m

At 1 August 1997 144.4 169.3 662.5
Shares issued* 6.2 ± ±
Scrip dividend share premium ± ± 5.7
Profit for the year ± ± 112.5
Dividends payable ± ± (71.7)

At 31 July 1998 150.6 169.3 709.0

As permitted by s230 of the Companies Act 1985 Wolseley plc has not presented its own profit and loss account.

Included in the profit and loss account balance is an amount of £566.2m which may not be distributable.

*Includes £1.7m transferred from profit and loss account to reserves in respect of shares issued to the Wolseley plc qualifying share
ownership trust.
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21. RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS

The group The company

1998 1997 1998 1997

£m £m £m £m

Profit for the financial year 176.0 176.6 112.5 27.5
Dividends (71.7) (65.0) (71.7) (65.0)
Currency translation differences (0.3) (18.1) ± ±
New share capital subscribed 4.9 5.5 6.6 5.5
Scrip dividend shares issued 6.0 1.2 6.0 1.2
Goodwill on acquisitions (note 22) (56.7) (40.4) ± ±
Goodwill written back on disposals 35.9 1.0 ± ±

Net additions to shareholders' funds 94.1 60.8 53.4 (30.8)
Opening shareholders' funds 842.3 781.5 1,118.7 1,149.5

Closing shareholders' funds 936.4 842.3 1,172.1 1,118.7

22. ACQUISITIONS

Details of acquisitions made since 1 August 1997, and consideration paid, are shown in the Finance Director's review on pages 31 to 35.

The most significant acquisition was that of Stock Lumber which was acquired on 31 May 1998 for a cash consideration, including debt
acquired, of £59.9m. Goodwill of £39.5m arose on this transaction.

The net assets of the businesses acquired during the year, as extracted from the vendor's accounting records, and the fair value adjustments
ascribed thereto, are set out below.

Book Accounting Fair

values policy values

acquired alignments acquired

Stock Lumber £m £m £m

Tangible fixed assets 1.4 (0.3) 1.1
Stocks 12.6 0.9 13.5
Debtors 13.9 (0.4) 13.5
Creditors (7.7) ± (7.7)
Borrowings ± short term (1.3) ± (1.3)

18.9 0.2 19.1
Other

Tangible fixed assets 5.3 (0.5) 4.8
Stocks 14.1 (2.2) 11.9
Debtors 15.8 ± 15.8
Creditors (11.2) (0.4) (11.6)
Cash 0.6 ± 0.6
Borrowings ± short term (1.5) ± (1.5)

± long term (0.3) ± (0.3)
Provisions (0.1) ± (0.1)

22.7 (3.1) 19.6

Total 41.6 (2.9) 38.7

The adjustments to fixed assets reflect the restatement of depreciation in line with group accounting policies.

The book value of stocks have been adjusted to write down slow moving and obsolete stocks to their estimated net realisable values in
accordance with the group accounting policy. In the case of US acquisitions, adjustments are also made, where appropriate, to restate stock
values from LIFO to FIFO.

Adjustments to debtors comprise provision for bad and doubtful debts in accordance with the group accounting policy.

The fair value adjustments shown above are provisional figures, being the best estimates currently available.

Further adjustments to goodwill may be necessary when additional information is available concerning some of the judgemental areas.
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22. ACQUISITIONS (continued)

Goodwill written off Consideration Fair value

(excluding debt of net assets

acquired) acquired Goodwill

£m £m £m

Building Distribution ± Europe 10.3 4.7 5.6
Building Distribution ± USA 81.4 32.8 48.6
Manufacturing 3.7 1.2 2.5

95.4 38.7 56.7

Results of trading companies acquired Turnover Trading profit

Previous Period

financial prior to

1998 1998 year acquisition

£m £m £m £m

Building Distribution ± Europe 5.6 0.7 0.6 0.3
Building Distribution ± USA 64.6 4.4 13.1 6.4
Manufacturing 4.8 0.3 0.6 0.2

75.0 5.4 14.3 6.9

For the year ended 31 December 1997 Stock Lumber reported a profit after tax of £5.8m. The profit after tax for the period prior to
acquisition was £2.5m.

At 31 July 1998 deferred consideration outstanding was £nil (1997 £15.7m) payable in cash.

The aggregate amount of goodwill written off since 1 May 1958, being the date of formation of the group is: £m

US acquisitions 269.7
French acquisitions 111.3
Austrian acquisitions 71.7
Other acquisitions 154.6

Total 607.3

23. DISPOSALS

£m

Net assets disposed of
Tangible fixed assets 6.4
Stocks 2.8
Debtors 26.9
Creditors (14.9)
Taxation (1.1)
Cash 2.2
Provisions (0.1)

22.2
Goodwill previously written off (note 20) 35.9

58.1
Provision for loss on disposal of Plant & Tools* 6.3

64.4
Proceeds 59.1

Net loss on disposal of operations 5.3
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23. DISPOSALS (continued)

Goodwill

Gain/(loss) on previously Total

net assets written off gain/(loss)

£m £m £m

Hunterskil Howard 40.2 (15.7) 24.5
Ashley & Rock (2.1) (12.3) (14.4)
Wipac (1.3) (7.2) (8.5)
COS Software 0.1 (0.7) (0.6)

36.9 (35.9) 1.0
Plant & Tools* 0.9 (7.2) (6.3)

37.8 (43.1) (5.3)

An exceptional tax charge of £5.6m arises on these disposals, principally relating to Hunterskil Howard.
*Plant & Tools was sold on 14 August 1998.

24. ANALYSIS OF THE NET OUTFLOW OF CASH IN RESPECT OF THE PURCHASE OF BUSINESSES
1998 1997

£m £m

Purchase consideration (note 22) 95.4 95.4
Net deferred payments 15.7 (11.7)

Cash consideration 111.1 83.7
Cash at bank and in hand acquired (0.6) (1.5)
Bank overdrafts of acquired business 2.8 9.3

113.3 91.5

25. ANALYSIS OF THE NET INFLOW OF CASH IN RESPECT OF THE SALE OF BUSINESSES

1998 1997

£m £m

Disposal proceeds (note 23) 59.1 0.3
Cash at bank and in hand disposed of (2.2) ±

56.9 0.3

26. RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING PROFIT TO NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

1998 1997

£m £m

Operating profit 277.4 264.4
Depreciation (including profit/loss on fixed asset disposals) 54.4 50.8
Loss on disposal of businesses included in operating profit ± 2.9
Increase in stocks (9.2) (56.3)
Increase in debtors (51.8) (56.0)
Increase in creditors 42.2 39.4
Increase in construction loans receivable (14.5) (35.5)
Increase in construction loans payable 14.8 36.3

Net cash flow from operating activities 313.3 246.0
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27. ANALYSIS OF CASH FLOWS SHOWN NET IN THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT
1998 1997

£m £m

Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received 38.6 33.9
Interest paid (39.6) (32.3)
Interest element of finance lease rentals (0.6) (0.5)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow for returns on investments and servicing of finance (1.6) 1.1

Capital expenditure
Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets (81.9) (72.5)
Receipts from sales of tangible fixed assets 9.2 8.5

Net cash outflow for capital expenditure (72.7) (64.0)

Management of liquid resources
Decrease in current asset investments ± 2.5
(Increase)/decrease in money market and other deposits (55.2) 21.8

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from management of liquid resources (55.2) 24.3

Financing
Issue of ordinary share capital 4.9 5.5

4.9 5.5

Drawdown/(repayment) of long term borrowings 29.0 (34.3)
Capital element of finance lease rental payments (4.6) (4.2)

24.4 (38.5)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing 29.3 (33.0)

The group includes in liquid resources, all current asset investments and interest-bearing amounts on deposit which are readily disposable
and convertible into cash at values close to book value.

28. ANALYSIS OF CHANGE IN NET DEBT
Acquisitions

and new

finance Exchange

1997 Cash flow leases movement 1998

£m £m £m £m £m

Cash in hand and at bank 75.9 24.5 ± 1.7 102.1
Overdrafts (191.6) (20.8) ± (3.7) (216.1)

(115.7) 3.7 ± (2.0) (114.0)

Debt due after one year (149.9) (29.0) (0.3) (2.3) (181.5)
Finance leases (9.3) 4.6 (5.6) (0.2) (10.5)

(159.2) (24.4) (5.9) (2.5) (192.0)

Current asset investments 2.5 ± ± 0.1 2.6
Money market and other deposits 206.6 55.2 ± ± 261.8

209.1 55.2 ± 0.1 264.4

Net debt (65.8) 34.5 (5.9) (4.4) (41.6)
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

There are no related party transactions requiring disclosure under FRS 8 (Related Party Disclosures).

30. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY CURRENCY
US French Austrian Other Group

Sterling Dollars Francs Schillings currencies total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

As at 31 July 1998
Tangible fixed assets 106.6 160.7 25.0 13.6 10.3 316.2
Stocks 190.6 384.8 75.1 29.9 17.5 697.9
Debtors 232.8 454.0 126.3 39.9 15.1 868.1
Construction loans ± net ± 0.8 ± ± ± 0.8
Creditors (196.5) (297.3) (165.7) (22.0) (12.9) (694.4)
Provisions (21.9) (25.0) (17.4) (15.1) (13.3) (92.7)
Taxation (51.6) (6.4) (3.5) (0.5) (1.6) (63.6)
Proposed dividend (51.6) ± ± ± ± (51.6)

Gross assets 208.4 671.6 39.8 45.8 15.1 980.7
(Borrowings)/funds ± net
Short term 432.4 (294.2) 32.5 (43.8) 19.6 146.5
Long term (0.2) (134.9) (53.0) ± ± (188.1)

Net assets 640.6 242.5 19.3 2.0 34.7 939.1

Exchange rates at 31 July 1998
Balance sheet $1.6360 FF9.7503 AS20.4729
Profit and loss account $1.6496 FF9.9326 AS20.8389

US French Austrian Other Group

Sterling Dollars Francs Schillings currencies total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

As at 31 July 1997
Gross assets 224.8 601.3 37.1 38.5 8.9 910.6
(Borrowings)/funds ± net
Short term 201.0 (101.5) 17.8 (44.0) 16.5 89.8
Long term ± (104.1) (51.5) ± ± (155.6)

Net assets 425.8 395.7 3.4 (5.5) 25.4 844.8

Exchange rates at 31 July 1997
Balance sheet $1.6375 FF10.1402 AS21.1638
Profit and loss account $1.6261 FF 8.9190 AS18.5652

The group has entered into a currency and interest rate swap with Lloyds Bank Plc whereby a liability for $76.5m and the benefit of £51.5m
and related interest thereon was acquired. The transaction matures on 1 April 2003. Both the dollar liability and the sterling asset are
excluded from the above tables.
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31. INTEREST RATE AND CURRENCY PROFILE

The current value of interest bearing assets, borrowings and off balance sheet contracts is as follows:
Weighted Weighted

Off average average

Interest balance fixed time for

bearing sheet interest which rate

Currency assets Borrowings contracts Net Floating Fixed rate is fixed

£m £m £m £m £m £m % Years

Sterling 432.4 (0.2) 51.5 483.7 264.2 219.5 7.13 1.7
US Dollars 44.1 (473.2) (46.8) (475.9) (337.4) (138.5) 5.93 1.7
French Francs 39.7 (60.2) ± (20.5) 20.5 (41.0) 5.19 1.1
Austrian Schillings 2.4 (46.2) ± (43.8) (24.3) (19.5) 4.34 1.7
Other currencies 25.1 (5.5) ± 19.6 19.6 ± ± ±

Total 543.7 (585.3) 4.7 (36.9) (57.4) 20.5

The off balance sheet contract is the currency and interest rate swap as detailed in note 30 to the accounts.
Interest receipts and payments on the floating rate assets and liabilities are determined by reference to short-term benchmark rates
applicable in the relevant currency or market, such as LIBOR, French and Austrian base rates.
The group reviews deposits and borrowings by currency at treasury committee and board meetings. The treasury committee gives prior
approval to any variations from floating rate arrangements.

The group has entered into the following interest rate swaps:

Amount Expiry date Wolseley receive Wolseley pay

FF200m January 2001 6 month PIBOR 4.62% pa
FF50m January 2001 6 month PIBOR 4.71% pa
FF150m January 1999 6 month LIBOR 6.10% to 6.13% pa
£26m January 2001 6.99% to 7.01% pa 6 month LIBOR
£70m January 1999 7.26% to 7.355% pa 6 month LIBOR
£50m January 2000 7.14% to 7.205% pa 6 month LIBOR
£22m March 2000 7.32% pa 6 month LIBOR
US$75m January 1999 6 month LIBOR 5.81% to 5.905% pa
US$75m January 2000 6 month LIBOR 6.10% to 6.105% pa
ATS 400m March 2000 6 month VIBOR 4.42% to 4.43% pa
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32. PENSIONS AND OTHER POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS

United Kingdom
The principal plan operated for United Kingdom employees is the Wolseley Group Retirement Benefits Plan which provides benefits based
on final pensionable salaries. The assets are held in separate trustee administered funds. The plan's retirement benefits are funded by a
contribution from employees of 4% of earnings with the balance being paid by group companies. The contribution rate is calculated on the
Projected Unit method and agreed with independent consulting actuaries.
An independent actuarial valuation was last carried out on 1 May 1998. On that date the market value of the plan's assets was £330.7m.
The market value of the assets was 113% of accrued benefits, after allowing for increases in earnings and pensions in payment. The
principal actuarial assumptions used were based upon an investment return of 6.0% per annum, future salary increases of 5.0% or
6.0% per annum and increases to pensions in payment of 3.0%. The total charge to the profit and loss account for UK companies was
£7.4m (1997 £7.1m).

United States
Both defined benefit and defined contribution plans operate in the United States. Assets are held in trustee administered funds independent
of the assets of the companies.

Defined benefit schemes
Defined benefit schemes are operated by two US subsidiary undertakings. One scheme is closed to new entrants. The closed scheme now
provides a minimum pension guarantee in conjunction with a defined contribution scheme. No further company funding is required.
The remaining scheme provides benefits based on final pensionable salaries. The contribution rate is calculated on the Projected Unit
method and agreed with independent consulting actuaries. An actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of the scheme was last
performed by independent actuaries as at 31 July 1998. The fair value of the assets of the plan amounted to £16.2m. The market value of
the assets was 108% of the accrued benefits. The principal actuarial assumptions were based upon investment returns of 9% and future
salary increases of 4.5%. The obligations are discounted at 7.0%. Surpluses and deficits revealed by the valuation are being amortised over
the expected remaining service lives of members. The total charge to the profit and loss account for USA companies was £0.9m (1997
£0.8m).

Defined contribution schemes
Defined contribution schemes are established in accordance with 401(k) rules. Companies contribute to both employee compensation
deferral and profit sharing plans. Contributions are charged to the profit and loss account in the period in which they fall due. In the year to
31 July 1998 the cost of defined contribution schemes charged to the profit and loss account was £7.8m (1997 £6.7m).

Other territories
Both defined contribution and defined benefit schemes are operated. Liabilities arising under defined benefit schemes are generally
calculated in accordance with actuarial advice. Full provision is made for such liabilities in these accounts. Contributions to defined
contribution schemes are accounted for in the period in which they fall due.
The cost of other defined contribution and defined benefit schemes charged to the profit and loss account was £1.7m (1997 £1.7m).

Post retirement health care
There are no obligations to provide post retirement health care benefits.
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33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At 31 July 1998 authorised capital expenditure which was contracted but not provided in these accounts amounted to £34.8m
(1997 £18.5m).

34. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

Future minimum payments due in the next twelve months under operating lease commitments are as follows:

Property leases Other leases

1998 1997 1998 1997

£m £m £m £m

Leases which expire within

12 months 4.3 4.1 0.7 0.7
13±24 months 5.0 5.6 1.8 1.5
25±36 months 4.7 4.1 1.0 1.5
37±48 months 5.9 2.8 0.6 0.5
49±60 months 5.2 5.3 0.3 0.3
over 60 months 23.8 22.9 0.5 0.3

48.9 44.8 4.9 4.8

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Wolseley plc and the group have the undermentioned quantifiable contingent liabilities which arose in the ordinary course of business and
which have not been provided in these accounts since no actual liability is expected to arise:

1998 1997

£m £m

Value added tax of certain subsidiary undertakings (all company) 2.0 2.2
Sundry guarantees, performance bonds and indemnities 9.2 9.0
(company £0.8m: 1997 £0.8m)
Guarantees in respect of pension liabilities in Sweden (all company) 10.5 10.2
Obligations under forward foreign exchange contracts 0.4 2.2

In addition Wolseley plc has given its principal UK bank authority to transfer at any time any sum outstanding to its credit against or towards
satisfaction of the liability to the bank of certain UK subsidiary undertakings.
As at 31 July 1998 cash deposits of Wolseley Insurance Limited amounting to £14.7m (1997 £12.2m) were charged in favour of Lloyds
Bank Plc to secure a letter of credit provided by that bank.
The company acts as guarantor or surety for various subsidiary undertakings in leasing and other agreements entered into by them in the
normal course of business and it has given indemnities and warranties to the purchasers of businesses from the company and certain group
companies in respect of which no material liabilities are expected to arise. Additionally the company has guaranteed the pension payable by
Brossette BTI to Mr G Pinault.

36. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

On 31 August 1998 a subsidiary undertaking acquired the business and assets of Delaware Lumber, a US building materials distributor, for
an estimated consideration of US$6.1m (£3.7m).
On 30 September 1998 a subsidiary undertaking signed a conditional contract to acquire the entire issued share capital of Porcher
Distribution, a French building materials distributor, for an estimated consideration, including debt to be acquired, of FF145m (£14.8m).
Completion is expected to take place in early November 1998.
On 2 October 1998 a subsidiary undertaking acquired the entire issued share capital of Hall & Co. Limited for a cash consideration of
approximately £121m.

66

Notes to the accounts year ended 31 July 1998



We have audited the financial statements on pages 45 to 66

(including the additional disclosures on pages 39 to 41 relating to

the remuneration of the directors specified for our review by the

London Stock Exchange) which have been prepared under the

historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain

fixed assets, and the accounting policies set out on pages 48 and 49.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

As described on page 44 the company's directors are responsible

for the preparation of financial statements. It is our responsibility to

form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those

statements and to report our opinion to you.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards

issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes

examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts

and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an

assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by

the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of

whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company's

and group's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately

disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the

information and explanations which we considered necessary in

order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable

assurance that the financial statements are free from material

misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or

error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall

adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial

statements.

OPINION

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of

the state of affairs of the company and the group as at 31 July

1998 and of the profit and cash flows of the group for the year

then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with

the Companies Act 1985.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Chartered Accountants Cornwall Court

and Registered Auditors 19 Cornwall Street

20 October 1998 Birmingham B3 2DT

Auditors' report to the directors of Wolseley plc
on corporate governance matters

In addition to our audit of the financial statements we have

reviewed your statements on page 37 of the Annual Report

concerning the group's compliance with the paragraphs of the

Cadbury Code of Best Practice specified for our review by the

London Stock Exchange and the adoption of the going concern

basis in preparing the financial statements. The objective of our

review is to draw attention to non-compliance with Listing Rules

12.43(j) and 12.43(v), if not otherwise disclosed.

BASIS OF OPINION

We carried out our review having regard to the guidance issued by

the Auditing Practices Board. That guidance does not require us to

perform the additional work necessary to, and we do not, express

any opinion on the effectiveness of either the group's system of

internal financial control or corporate governance procedures nor

on the ability of the group to continue in operational existence.

OPINION

In our opinion, your statements on internal financial control and

on going concern on page 37, have provided the disclosures

required by the Listing Rules referred to above and are consistent

with the information which came to our attention as a result of

our audit work on the financial statements.

In our opinion, based on enquiry of certain directors and officers

of the company and examination of relevant documents, your

statement on page 37 appropriately reflects the group's

compliance with the other aspects of the Code specified for our

review by Listing Rule 12.43(j).

PricewaterhouseCoopers Cornwall Court

Chartered Accountants 19 Cornwall Street

20 October 1998 Birmingham B3 2DT
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BUILDING DISTRIBUTION ± EUROPE

UNITED KINGDOM

*Wolseley Centers Limited, Ripon, North Yorkshire HG4 1SL

A. J. Hutton A. Barden D. Bradley K. Evans P. Gauron

K. H. D. Jones J. Mazza D. E. Moody P. W. Sheppard

P. G. Shewbrook I. Tillotson J. W. G. Young

R. Clay (Secretary)

Services

P. J. Brunt B. W. Hart D. Hufton A. E. Martin

H. Sherlock P. Wardell S. M. Waters

Lightside Division, Ripon, North Yorkshire HG4 1SL

Trading as: Plumb Center, Drainage Center, Just

Bathrooms, Crangrove

K. H. D. Jones A. J. Hutton K. Evans J. Mazza

P. G. Shewbrook

Plumb Center East Region, Dunstable, Bedfordshire LU5 4HU

K. Evans D. E. Purvis A. Stevenson D. Stubbs

Plumb Center West and Scotland Region, Worcester WR3 8HS

P. G. Shewbrook R. Beagley (designate)

A. N. Howes S. Young

Just Bathrooms, Ripon, North Yorkshire HF4 1SL

C. D. Kitchen (General Manager)

Crangrove, Park Royal, London NW10 7QH

M. Hymers M. W. Speed

Heavyside Division, Ashford, Middlesex TW15 2RP

Trading as: Builder Center, RSJ, Uni-Rents

A. Barden A. J. Hutton D. V. Rhodes J. C. Turner

Builder Center, Kettering, Northants NN16 8PS

A. Barden P. H. Cassidy D. V. Rhodes J. C. Turner

RSJ, Appleton, Warrington WA4 4SX

Uni-Rents, Bournemouth, Dorset BH8 8RS

N. E. C. Frost T. Heal

Commercial and Industrial Division, Dunstable,

Bedfordshire LU5 4HU

Trading as: Pipeline Center, Controls Center, High Cool

P. W. Sheppard A. J. Hutton

Pipeline Center, Dunstable, Bedfordshire LU5 4HU

P. W. Sheppard R. Bateson R. Trevaskis (designate)

P. Whistler

Controls Center, Camberwell, London SE5 9HQ

P. Gauron M. Finn M. R. Haines

High Cool, Shrewsbury SY1 3LG

P. Gauron M. Williams D. Bass

BUILDING DISTRIBUTION ± EUROPE

UNITED KINGDOM

*Wolseley Centers Limited (continued)

Spares Division, Leyland, Preston PR5 1SX

Trading as: HRPC, Wash-Vac Services

I. Tillotson A. J. Hutton G. Gough G. Richardson

D. Rickards

HRPC, Leyland, Preston PR5 1SX

I. Tillotson G. Richardson D. Rickards

Wash-Vac Services, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3RS

I. Tillotson G. Gough

FRANCE

*Brossette BTI SA, 69007 Lyon, France

(incorporated and operational in France)

G. Pinault J. R. Descours A. Domenget

C. Poulaillon D. A. Vilbois J. C. Watson

AUSTRIA

*OÈ AG Gruppe AG, 1110 Vienna, Austria

(incorporated and operational in Austria)

A. Hartlieb M. DoÈ rsch S. Fend W. Messer

P. Scheiblauer C. Stockert J. C. Watson

BUILDING DISTRIBUTION ± USA

*Ferguson Enterprises, Inc., Newport News, Virginia 23602

(incorporated and operational in the United States of

America)

C. A. Banks J. B. Thomas J. R. English

J. H. Garrett S. F. Grosslight M. L. Grunkemeyer

W. S. Hargette C. A. S. Hornsby III S. P. Mitchell

F. W. Roach D. P. Strup J. W. G. Young

*Carolina Holdings Inc. Raleigh, North Carolina 27629

(incorporated and operational in the United States of

America)

J. B. Thomas F. N. Hord W. S. Edwards G. E. Robinette

D. W. O'Halloran W. D. Rose J. W. G. Young

*Familian Northwest Inc., Portland, Oregon 97217

(incorporated and operational in the United States of

America)

J. B. Thomas T. K. Stern R. T. Saltmarsh

J. W. G. Young

*Familian Corp., Pomona, California 91766

(incorporated and operational in the United States of

America)

J. W. G. Young J. B. Thomas C. A. Banks S. F. Grosslight

C. A. S. Hornsby III S. P. Mitchell
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MANUFACTURING

Energy

*Bentone AB, Ljungby, Sweden

(incorporated and operational in Sweden)

A. P. Weaver S. O. Lovgren R. Astrom H. Nilsson

C. Svensson D. A. Branson

Nu-Way Ltd., Droitwich Spa, Worcestershire WR9 8NA

A. P. Weaver J. W. Findlay R. J. Austin

K. Borgeat G. E. Hudspith J. T. Martin

*Saint Roch Couvin sa/nv, Couvin, Belgium

(incorporated and operational in Belgium)

A. P. Weaver M. MuÈ ller M. B. Bailey F. X. Geubel

*Giersch GmbH, Hemer, Germany

(incorporated and operational in Germany)

A. P. Weaver P. DuÈnhaupt Frau U. DuÈnhaupt

M. Kohlmann O. Quaschnik

*Electro-Oil International AS, Albertslund, Denmark

(incorporated and operational in Denmark)

A. P. Weaver I. Frank T. Hansen Mrs. A. Boldt (Secretary)

B. Ostergaard

*CTC WaÈrme AG, Zurich, Switzerland

(incorporated and operational in Switzerland)

U. HaberthuÃ r Mrs. D. Schawalder A. P. Weaver

L. Fredlund (Secretary)

*CTC FerroFil AS, Arnas, Norway

(incorporated and operational in Norway)

A. P. Weaver T. Sydtangen T. Brekke J. OÈ stvik

*Electro-Oil GmbH, Reinbeck, Germany

(incorporated and operational in Germany)

A. P. Weaver Frau. M. Jost H. Kaminski

*Osby Parca AB, Osby, Sweden

(incorporated and operational in Sweden)

A. P. Weaver L. Anderson J. E. Jonsson M. Lindh

K. E. Persson Mrs. E. Winqvist D. A. Branson

*CTC AB, Ljungby, Sweden

(incorporated and operational in Sweden)

A. P. Weaver S. O. Lovgren J. Stromeyer A. Andersson

H. Erlandsson L. Olson D. A. Branson

MANUFACTURING

Agricultural

*Dihurst Holdings Ltd., Exmouth, Devon EX2 2RN

I. E. Humphries C. J. H. Low D. M. Belleperche

J. I. Hodgkinson D. G. Odlin

*Sparex Ltd., Exeter, Devon EX5 2LJ

C. J. H. Low T. Stortenbeker H. S. Trapnell

C. R. Steele A. F. L. Maclean Miss M. R. Jones

Miss J. N. Hiorns

*The Vapormatic Co. Ltd., Exeter, Devon EX2 7NB

C. J. H. Low J. G. Webb R. G. Evans J. Gray

M. J. W. Mountstevens I. F. Mitchell

ByPy Hydraulics and Transmissions Ltd., Ludlow,

Shropshire SY8 1XD (60% owned)

C. J. H. Low A. Bridge J. T. Martin R. W. Summers

E. Bondioli (Italy) C. Bondioli (Italy)

P. J. Parmiter & Sons Ltd., Tisbury, Wiltshire SP3 6QZ

I. E. Humphries S. Wilcox J. M. Bagg S. J. Mullins

Engineering, electrical and plastics

Form Fittings Ltd., Rotherham, Yorkshire S65 1EN

I. E. Humphries A. Robertson S. Broughton

*H. J. Godwin Ltd., Quenington, Gloucestershire GL7 5BX

A. P. Weaver M. J. Stone J. Miller P. C. O'Shaughnessy

J. P. C. Shepard

*Gentech International Ltd., Girvan, Ayrshire KA26 9PS

(incorporated and operational in Scotland)

A. Robertson J. J. Curry C. R. Everett N. H. Forsythe

B. A. A. Smith

Powerplan Systems Ltd, Preston, Lancashire PR3 OP2

A. Robertson S. Broughton I. Fitt

Electric Motor Developments (Halstead) Ltd., Halstead, Essex CO9 1HL

A. Robertson J. J. Curry P. R. Hanscombe A. K. Shapley

B. A. A. Smith
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MANUFACTURING

Engineering, electrical and plastics (continued)

Totton Pumps Ltd., Totton, Nr. Southampton, Hampshire SO40 9AH

A. P. Weaver J. Russell E. Allen N. J. Chase

D. N. Ferrier D. A. Branson (Secretary)

W. H. Boddington & Co. Ltd., Horsmonden, Kent TN12 8AH

I. E. Humphries D. R. Boddington Mrs. D. M. Boddington

A. J. Rapp

*Antiference Ltd., Lichfield, Staffordshire WS13 7SB

A. Robertson P. Hubble J. L. Marks C. Matthews

C. Sayers I. Southarn

Boxmag-Rapid Ltd., Birmingham B6 4AJ

A. P. Weaver M. R. Durant A. Brown

Dr. I. S. Wells R. T. Guise (Secretary)

*Astralux Dynamics Ltd., Brightlingsea, Colchester, Essex CO7 0SW

A. Robertson J. J. Curry N. H. Forsythe

D. A. Oliver B. A. A. Smith

*Abbot Brown & Sons Ltd., Beaminster, Dorset DT8 3EJ

I. E. Humphries D. R. Boddington A. S. Paul

Photographic

*Calumet Photographic Inc., Bensenville, Illinois 60106, USA

(incorporated and operational in the United States of America)

Mrs. K. C. Houde P. Biasotti D. Drew I. E. Humphries

C. Urgo

*Bowens International Ltd, Clacton-on-Sea, Essex CO15 3RH

I. E. Humphries P. J. Buttery C. Baldwin

C. M. Wyer R. Wade

*KJP Ltd., Milton Keynes, Buckinghamshire MK7 8AJ

I. E. Humphries A. Lahert Mrs. K. C. Houde

F. D. M. Newman P. L. Underwood

SERVICE COMPANIES

Wolseley (Group Services) Ltd., Droitwich Spa,

Worcestershire WR9 8ND

D. A. Branson I. M. Burton R. H. Teagle A. P. Weaver

S. P. Webster N. J. Anton

Wolseley-Hughes Ltd.

Wolseley Properties Ltd.

Wolseley International Ltd.

*Wolseley Holding AS

(incorporated and operational in Denmark)

*Wolseley Insurance Ltd.

(incorporated and operational in the Isle of Man)

*Wolseley Management Inc.

(incorporated and operational in the United States of America)

*Wolseley Real Estate Inc.

(incorporated and operational in the United States of America)

Wolseley Distribution Europe Ltd.

J. W. G. Young J. R. Descours A. J. Hutton P. W. Sheppard

D. A. Branson

Advancechief Public Limited Company

Chartersteel Ltd.

Willow (Guernsey) Ltd.

(incorporated and operational in Guernsey)

*Goldfinch Ltd.

(incorporated and operational in Guernsey)

Wolseley Europe Ltd.

*Enertech Industries AB

(incorporated and operational in Sweden)

*Enertech Industries GmbH

(incorporated and operational in Germany)

*Wolseley H Ltd.

*Wolseley H2

Country of incorporation, registration and main operation in

England or Wales unless otherwise stated.

All subsidiary undertakings are wholly owned unless otherwise

indicated. All subsidiary undertakings have been included in the

consolidation.

Shareholdings in companies marked * are held by intermediate

subsidiary undertakings.

All shareholdings in the above subsidiary undertakings are of

ordinary shares or equity capital, plus the following preference

shares in the case of:

Dihurst Holdings Ltd. £115,024

Sparex Ltd. £6,000

Wolseley Insurance Ltd. £50,000
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1998 1997 1996 1995 1994

£m £m £m £m £m

Turnover

Building Distribution ± Europe 1,636.0 1,607.2 1,588.4 1,436.0 1,145.8

Building Distribution ± USA 2,701.9 2,499.9 2,234.9 1,890.1 1,718.0

Manufacturing 421.6 494.8 491.1 457.8 390.3

4,759.5 4,601.9 4,314.4 3,783.9 3,254.1

Trading profit

Building Distribution ± Europe 107.0 97.8 96.4 103.3 81.0

Building Distribution ± USA 135.1 133.0 112.6 101.6 86.8

Manufacturing 35.3 33.6 37.4 44.6 36.6

277.4 264.4 246.4 249.5 204.4

Exceptional item (5.3) ± ± ± ±

272.1 264.4 246.4 249.5 204.4

Net interest receivable/(payable) 2.1 (0.2) (3.5) (4.1) (2.1)

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 274.2 264.2 242.9 245.4 202.3

Tax before exceptional item (92.2) (87.2) (80.1) (81.0) (66.7)

Tax on exceptional item (5.6) ± ± ± ±

Profit on ordinary activities after tax 176.4 177.0 162.8 164.4 135.6

Minority interests (0.4) (0.4) (0.5) (0.8) (0.4)

Profit accruing to ordinary capital 176.0 176.6 162.3 163.6 135.2

Ordinary dividends (71.7) 65.0 58.8 54.0 46.1

Net assets employed

Tangible fixed assets 316.2 295.5 291.5 250.0 227.4

Other net assets, excluding liquid funds 664.5 615.1 552.4 472.8 389.6

980.7 910.6 843.9 722.8 617.0

Financed by

Share capital 143.2 142.5 141.8 137.9 68.7

Share premium 150.6 144.4 139.6 77.1 143.9

Profit and loss account 642.6 555.4 500.1 420.4 345.3

Shareholders' funds 936.4 842.3 781.5 635.4 557.9

Interests of minority shareholders 2.7 2.5 2.6 3.5 2.7

Borrowings over one year 188.1 155.6 215.8 215.9 214.6

Net liquid funds (146.5) (89.8) (156.0) (132.0) (158.2)

980.7 910.6 843.9 722.8 617.0

Cumulative goodwill written off 607.3 586.5 547.1 514.6 494.0

Gross capital employed 1,588.0 1,497.1 1,391.0 1,237.4 1,111.0
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1998 1997 1996 1995 1994

£m £m £m £m £m

Statistics

*Earnings per share before exceptional item 32.70p 31.07p 29.16p 29.72p 25.39p

*Earnings per share after exceptional item 30.80p 31.07p 29.16p 29.72p 25.39p

*Dividends, net per share 12.50p 11.40p 10.35p 9.80p 8.36p

Cover for ordinary dividends ± per share 2.5 2.7 2.8 3.0 3.0

Gearing ratio (note 1) 4.4% 7.7% 7.7% 13.2% 10.1%

*Net assets per ordinary share 163.90p 148.23p 137.75p 115.19p 101.49p

US Dollar translation rate

± Profit and loss 1.6496 1.6261 1.5478 1.5843 1.5000

± Balance sheet 1.6360 1.6375 1.5571 1.6000 1.5366

French Franc translation rate

± Profit and loss 9.9326 8.9190 7.7573 8.1252 8.6300

± Balance sheet 9.7503 10.1402 7.7819 7.6393 8.3408

Austrian Schilling translation rate

± Profit and loss 20.8389 18.5652 15.9480 16.4923 17.3240

± Balance sheet 20.4729 21.1638 16.1367 15.5400 17.1687

Return on gross capital employed (note 2) 17.6% 17.7% 17.9% 20.7% 20.4%

Average number of employees 25,833 24,955 22,774 21,503 19,073

Aggregate wages and salaries £m 517.0 490.9 454.5 395.4 340.8

*Number of shares in issue at year end (m) 573.0 570.0 567.3 551.6 549.8

Number of branches at year end ±

Building Distribution ± Europe 999 944 862 782 716

Building Distribution ± USA 585 533 474 444 416

Note 1. The gearing ratio is calculated on net borrowings excluding construction loan borrowings.

Note 2. Return on gross capital employed is the ratio of trading profit to the aggregate of average shareholders' funds, minority interests, net debt and

goodwill previously written off.

*Adjusted for the one for one capitalisation issue made in 1995.
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COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

The Audit Committee consists of the non-executive directors.
Chairman: David L Tucker 

The Remuneration Committee consists of the non-executive
directors except for the Company Chairman.
Chairman: John W Whybrow

The Nominations Committee consists of the non-executive
directors.
Chairman: Richard Ireland

The Treasury Committee consists of the non-executive direc-
tors, the Chief Executive, Finance Director and the Company
Secretary.
Chairman: Richard Ireland

HEAD OFFICE AND REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 18
Vines Lane
Droitwich Spa
Worcestershire WR9 8ND

Telephone: 01905 777200 
Fax: 01905 777219

AUDITORS AND TAXATION ADVISORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers

STOCKBROKERS

Warburg Dillon Read

SOLICITORS

Freshfields

REGISTRARS

Lloyds TSB Registrars
54 Pershore Road South
Kings Norton
Birmingham B30 3EP 

Telephone: 0121 433 8000

TIMETABLE FOR AGM AND DIVIDENDS

Ex-dividend date Monday, 30 November 1998

Record date Friday, 4 December 1998

Annual general meeting Friday, 11 December 1998

Warrants and counterfoils posted Thursday, 28 January 1999

Dividend payment date Friday, 29 January 1999

Interim announcement date Tuesday, 16 March 1999
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